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SENATOR DEBORAH ORTIZ:  Good afternoon.  Let me ask all of you in the audience to please take a seat.  We’re going to go ahead and begin the informational hearing.  We’re going to do this as a committee of one, but we have a number of members that are in other committees who have committed to join us, as it is a jointly held committee hearing.

Welcome, Senator Alquist.


Let me go ahead with my opening statement, and I will then allow my colleague, Senator Alquist—whom I served with not only in the Assembly but am now fortunate enough to serve with in the Senate as well—to make her opening comments, and then, hopefully, we’ll begin the program.


It’s my pleasure to begin this hearing and thoughtful discussion, I think long overdue in many ways, on the “University of California Medical School Admissions and the Shortages in the California Healthcare Workforce.”  


I’ve sponsored a number of hearings in the past, and the objective of these informational hearings is to educate our colleagues as we embark upon public policy, but more importantly, to hold accountable, I think in this case, our public institutions that are paid for by taxpayer dollars, and to ask the question whether, in fact, we’re meeting that mission of serving Californians through the training of our physicians as well as our healthcare delivery systems.  Much of this information is very weighty, it’s very significant, and we may not get through all of it today, but all of it is very important.


The interest of a number of the caucuses to jointly sponsor this really comes from many of us who also are members of the Latino caucus, the African American caucus, the Asian caucus, as well as my colleague Senator Alarcón, who has a select committee on the University of California admissions and outreach.  We’ve also invited some key chairs of budget subcommittees—I understand Assemblymember Chu will be joining us later in the day—that oversees the budget.  We’ve also been joined by newly elected Senator Abel Maldonado, and I welcome him, and I’ll give him an opportunity for opening comments as well.

As the chair of the Senate Health Committee and as a past member of the Budget Subcommittee on Health and Human Services, I’ve had the privilege and, unfortunately, the challenge at times to work on some of the most difficult health issues facing Californians.  Despite the expansion of coverage and sustained support of our healthcare safety net—although, it’s still fragile, that safety net that we fight for every year—that also assumes we still have 6.6 million people who are uninsured in California.  Increasingly, we face a host of chronic diseases and issues that seem to be getting worse.  This includes startling rates of cancer, various types of diseases that are inordinately borne by communities of color, the underserved, as well as the uninsured, and we see rising rates of chronic public healthcare problems that are going to further burden our system, including diabetes, children who are obese, asthma rates, et cetera.

Within this very expensive system, these challenges are only going to add to the cost of our healthcare in California, and in order to not only address them but get ahead of the curve, we have to ask that question:  How are we serving or not serving the underserved areas, and why are we not serving these underserved areas?  We do have unequal treatment, as the California Endowment report in 2003 indicated, where certain health burdens are disproportionately borne by some communities.  And it goes back to the question of whether we’re training physicians to go and serve in those underserved areas that know no color, that know no race, but rather, unfortunately, are usually burdened by poverty.  


Those are the challenges that we face as policymakers at this end when many of the UC institutions are coming to us, clamoring about our inability to increase Medi-Cal reimbursement rates as we fight with the federal government on DSH dollars and as we face closures because of overburdening emergency rooms.  Much of this, if we went back to some of the primary causes of this maldistribution of healthcare, really goes to the question of whether or not our healthcare systems, our universities, and public institutions of medical training are, in fact, helping at that end to turn out the docs that go back to underserved areas.

So, we have to ask:  What can the UC do to attract, train, and produce more physicians—particularly those specializing in primary care—to eventually serve in those needed areas in which we have huge underserved populations?  This discussion takes place, of course, with consideration on the policies to admit students into the university system.  We’re interested particularly in UC Davis, UC Irvine, and UC San Diego because health science research has told us that these are the students that most reliably return to underserved communities and practice there.  We also know from research and recommendations from a broad array of credible and respected entities that diversity only serves to enhance educational institutions and the larger discourse on medicine in society.  In tandem with this principle, we are focused on the larger mission of producing physicians willing to give back to California.  


So, I hope to hear from the UC representatives who’ve joined us today on what their admission practices are in relation to the goals and strategies that we’ve outlined or how they could be improved to better align with the state’s longstanding needs in the areas of access to care, quality care for underserved communities, and public health improvement generally related to chronic disease.


We will first hear from external perspectives who will frame the discussion for us around the reality of California’s workforce shortage, the needs at the local level from a physician perspective, and then the parent and student views.  Then the UC will present, including the deans from the UC Davis, UC Irvine, as well as UC San Diego Schools—well, the deputy dean from UC San Diego—Schools of Medicine.  I thank them for taking the time out to attend this hearing.  I know it was a bit of a burden to put aside their other duties, and I want to acknowledge them here publicly for making the commitment to this committee.

Finally, we’re going to hear about the activities on workforce issues from other institutions, including, quite frankly—which ought to be highlighted more—the foundations who are actually putting dollars in, understanding that their needs—the needs of creating a pipeline of professionals to go into these underserved areas—have fallen primarily on the foundations that have the resources today in our era of declining resources, and their vision of looking at what is, in my mind, a twenty- to thirty-year minimum commitment if indeed they do it ever year and they fund it every year and we, in fact, turn out the projections of healthcare practitioners.  Those are a lot of assumptions that I don’t know that government can rely upon, but I thank them for doing that.


With that, let me allow my colleagues to make some opening comments.  I will invite them to do so in the order that they arrived:  Senator Alquist, Senator Maldonado, and Senator Cox.


SENATOR ELAINE ALQUIST:  Thank you.  It’s a pleasure to be here.


I first would like to thank Senator Ortiz for putting this hearing together.  We certainly have a real issue in looking at the diversity of California:  the shortages when it comes to the healthcare workforce and how does that really relate to the admissions of the UC Medical School?


I see several people from UC here, and I know that you’re great to work with.  As the former chair of the Assembly Higher Education Committee, I know that you are always trying to do your best.  And so, hopefully in this hearing we will be putting out some interesting information and seeing things that we need to change.


Now, when Senator Ortiz mentioned the different groups that were co-hosting this hearing, I thought to myself, Let’s see, I’m not Asian, I’m not a Latina, I’m not an African American.  I’m Caucasian.  I’m the daughter of a Greek immigrant.  Why do I care?  I care for a couple of reasons.  I care because in my new Senate district, the majority is Latino/Latina and Asian, and I know that people in my community, in my Senate district, have a very tough time in getting the kind of healthcare that they need, and when there are healthcare professionals, they’re not always explained things in the language that they understand.  I know as the daughter of a Greek immigrant how my mother and her mother really did not want to go to the doctor—were fearful—and because of that, both of them suffered relatively early deaths because they had health conditions that warranted medical care which they did not get.


The other reason I care is that as someone who is one year older than the oldest baby boomer—and I’m sixty, and the oldest baby boomer is fifty-nine years old—it behooves me to see that we have an educated workforce and the kind and number—the kind and the number—of healthcare providers for all of us as we age. Certainly, we know with the baby boomer generation, that they’re used to having good care when they need it, and so, the pressures on the healthcare system are going to be much greater.  They’re great now, but they will increase over the next five, ten, fifteen years.  So, the time for us to do something is now.

So, I’m here to learn, and I appreciate that all of you are here also.  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  Any opening comments from Senator Maldonado or Senator Cox?  Welcome.


SENATOR DAVE COX:  Senator, thank you for holding this hearing.  I don’t have any comments.  I’m anxious to hear the testimony.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Great.  Thank you.  We’re also joined by Assemblymember Dymally—actually, I tend to call him “Congressman”—who has been a leader long before many of us were in this Legislature.  Let me invite him to make some opening comments as well.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER MERVYN DYMALLY:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Just a brief comment.  


As you’re aware, the Charles R. Drew University of Medicine and Science was first designed to train African American doctors to serve in the underserved areas.  Subsequently, the mission was changed to include all students, and the school now has the most diverse medical class in the country.  But guess what?  There’s only one black student in this class.  To think of a school in the heart of Watts, in Willowbrook, designed to train African American doctors.  I don’t know what is the admission policy because they jointly interview students with the University of California at Los Angeles.  Contrast that with the fact that at the urging of the Congressional Black Caucus, President Fidel Castro has offered 500 scholarships to Americans free of charge, and Drew University has 20 students in Cuba but only one African American student in Los Angeles.  Think about that.  Talk to me about it.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Assemblymember Dymally.

Let me extend an invitation to Senator Ducheny, if she wants to provide opening comments.


SENATOR DENISE DUCHENY:  I think we need to get to the subject matter.  We were just in a health briefing, and I just think it reminds us all how much we need to focus on providing the physicians we need throughout the state.  I mean, there are huge issues pending in Medi-Cal and federal funding and our ability to actually. . . . I mean, the governor is proposing, for instance, expansion of      Medi-Cal managed care into rural counties.  The question of the day:  Are there enough dollars in those rural counties to do that Medi-Cal managed care or a willingness to participate in Medi-Cal in the areas that we’d like to perhaps expand services into?  You know, all the primary care clinics in my area have difficulties finding people to do that, and it’s just equally true in the urban inner-city areas as it is in the rural areas.


I remember from some time ago, and it is a bit distressing to learn, that there was an MOU that kind of has finished and didn’t really happen and all of a sudden three years later we’re finding out about it.  I remember the discussions in the late nineties.  There was a lot of talk about how are we going to provide the primary care physicians we need in underserved communities?  Instead of that, we’re getting foreign medical graduates, we have Californians going out of the country to get medical education, and our system here is somehow not providing the doctors that we need, and yet, we continue to try to find doctors.


So, hopefully that’s what we’re going to focus on a little bit today, that we can find better ways to do this.


Didn’t we also have a scholarship program of some kind we did a few years ago?  We’ll forgive your loans if you’ll go serve in communities da-da-da?  I remember we enacted it.  Has it happened?  We did those things on purpose, and the idea was we really would have some doctors here.  It looks like we’re not producing them yet, so I will be interested to hear what everybody has to say.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  Senator Ducheny chairs the Senate Budget Health and Human Services Subcommittee which is integrally tied to our ability to serve California’s uninsured and underinsured, and I think we have a great team here.


With that, let me begin with the program.  We’re a little bit behind time.  We should have been through at least two speakers, but this is important as members frame the issues.


The first panel is “Framing the Issues:  Health Disparities, the State of the Healthcare Workforce, and External Perspectives on UC Medical School Admissions.”  Let me invite Katherine Dower, who is a J.D., the director of California Workforce Initiative, and associate director of Health, Law, and Policy at UCSF Center for Health Professionals, to come up.  I understand you’re going to give a PowerPoint presentation, and I thank you for joining us.


We’ll hold off on questions from my colleagues until the panel is complete.


MS. KATHERINE DOWER:  Well, thank you very much for having me here today.

[PowerPoint setup.]


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I believe it’s in your packet, members.  The PowerPoint looks like this, and it’s in your packet.  


You may begin.


MS. DOWER:  Thank you very much.  My name is Katherine Dower.  I am the associate director for Health, Law, and Policy at the UCSF Center for the Health Professions.  For the past five years I’ve also been the director of the California Workforce Initiative, which is a project jointly funded by the California HealthCare Foundation and the California Endowment, focusing on healthcare professions in California.  What I want to do today is give some brief overviews about the picture of the health workforce, focusing on medicine in California.


The first slide is numbers that you might already know, but I want to frame them because they really form the core of the issue that we’re talking about.  We’re looking at California population by race/ethnicity and California physician workforce by race/ethnicity.  As you know, whites in California make up just shy of 50 percent of the population, yet make up 70 percent of the California physician workforce.  Asian and Pacific Islanders make up 12 percent of the general population and 20 percent of the physician workforce.  But the big story is that blacks make up 7 percent of the population and only 3 percent of the physician workforce.  Latinos make up 30 percent of the California general population—slightly more, actually—and only 4 percent of the physician workforce in California.


A couple of notes about our data on physicians.  We are talking only about the active patient care physicians.  Those are hospital staff or office-based physicians who are providing patient care.  We excluded residents still in training.  We excluded the federal physicians.  We excluded inactive, retired physicians and anyone who is doing other than patient care activities.  So, we weren’t looking at teachers, administrators, et cetera.


We also did have to exclude from this analysis the 20,000 physicians who declined to report race/ethnicity when queried on it.  We can make hypotheses about what race/ethnicity they might be, but we don’t have the data, so we’re not including it in our study.  So, I would just say that these are conservative figures.

Another way that we look at workforce issues is to split the generalists from the specialists.  We look at primary care physicians versus specialists.  Again, we see that whites make up the majority of generalists, with 61 percent.  Twenty-six percent of the generalists are Asian and Pacific Islanders.  Only 3 percent are black, and 6 percent are Latino/Hispanic.  In the specialists, 74 percent—three-quarters of the specialists in this state—are white.  Seventeen percent are Asian and Pacific Islander.  Only 3 percent are Hispanic and only 3 percent are African American.


Another way to look at the primary care versus specialist split is the percentage within each group.  Overall in California, specialists make up 64 percent of the physician population.  So, two-thirds of the physicians are specialists, and about a third are generalists.  White physicians are just shy of that average number; so, 30 percent of the whites are generalists.  Forty-five percent of Asian and Pacific Islander physicians are generalists.  Thirty-five percent of the blacks are generalists, and just about half of the Hispanic/Latino physicians are primary care physicians in California.  The Latino/Hispanic group is comprised of Mexican American, Puerto Rican, and other Hispanic subgroups within the data that we’re looking at.


We can pull out and make lots of different comparisons.  I chose this one because it is graphically compelling.  This is California physicians by specialty and race/ethnicity, and we’re looking at, again, the white physicians, 30 percent of whom are specialists—excuse me, are generalists—and 70 percent are specialists; an exact mirror image for Mexican American physicians, with 70 percent of the Mexican American physicians becoming primary care physicians and 30 percent choosing to become specialists in California.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  And to my colleagues, the reason that that is important is because the primary care family physicians are the ones that most likely go back to the underserved areas, independent of race or ethnicity.  It’s where our greatest needs are and our gaps are in our health service system.


Please continue.


MS. DOWER:  Thank you.


When we look at the pipeline—that is, the medical schools and the residency programs—we do need to look at the percentages that are coming out of each of the various programs.  In California, among the current active patient care physicians in California, only a quarter of them went to medical schools in California.  Fifteen percent went to UC schools, and 10 percent went to private California universities.  Twenty-four percent of the current practitioners in California went to foreign schools, and 50 percent of them went to other U.S. medical schools here in the United States.  So, the medical school pipeline really is a national, even an international phenomenon.


So, we look at national numbers, and right here we’re looking at graphs of the U.S.  It’s nationwide medical school matriculants by race/ethnicity for a 25-year period, from 1975 to 2000.  Nationally, the percentage of underrepresented minorities—and the Association of American Medical Colleges defines “underrepresented minority” as including blacks, Mexican Americans, Native Americans, and mainland Puerto Ricans.  So, the percentage of underrepresented minorities as medical school matriculants has risen only about 4 percent; that is, from 10 percent to 14 percent in the 25-year period from 1975 to 2000.  And that’s total underrepresented minorities.  It actually declines slightly from 15 percent to 14 percent between 1995 and 2000.


So, what you see here is a fairly significant shift and an increase in Asian and Pacific Islanders becoming medical school enrollees with a corresponding decrease in the percent of white matriculants to medical schools but virtually no change in the percentages of blacks and Hispanics or Latinos enrolling in medical schools nationally.


State policy might have a slightly greater impact when directed to residency programs.  About half of the current practitioners in California did their residency here in California, and about half did them elsewhere.  When we look at California physicians in residencies, we see that among those who reported their race/ethnicity, only 5 percent were black, 5 percent Hispanic or Latino.  So, we see no significant improvement in the diversity of the physician workforce for the near future within the Californian residencies.  Nationally, the percentages of underrepresented minorities in all U.S. residency programs did not increase between 1995 and 1999, so we’re seeing about the same numbers.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Would you reiterate that timeframe and the statistics?


MS. DOWER:  Sure.  The last statement that I made was that nationally, we haven’t seen any increase in underrepresented minorities in the U.S. residency programs between ’95 and ’99.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


MS. DOWER:  In California, the data points that were on the slide, that was a survey done in 2000 and it was “in residence” as of 1998.  So, they were still in the pipeline back then.


Now, we are the Center for the Health Professions.  We are not the center for medicine.  We do look at other professions, and we see some mitigating factors that we would like to point out.  Among the other professions, among the other patient care/direct care professions, we do see significant proportions of nurse practitioners, physician assistants, and certified nurse midwives practicing in federally designated underserved areas—higher than what we see in the physician workforce.  We also see a nice trend that many doctors are now reporting fluency in Spanish, which might be a mitigating factor.  In 2001, our survey indicated that 28 percent of primary physicians reported that they were fluent in Spanish, and 17 percent of specialists were fluent in Spanish.  Those were self-reports.  We don’t know if there’s any objective assessment of those linguistic skills.


But there are exacerbating factors as well.  Among the other professions, the other healthcare professions, the representation of underrepresented minorities is generally worse than it is in medicine.  For whatever it’s worth, medicine has actually taken the lead on including underrepresented minorities in the profession.  Many of the other professions are lagging behind.

There’s one significant difference there, or distinction, I would point out for physician assistants within California.  We do see that 13 percent of the physician assistants here in this state are Latino, and 8 percent are black.


The other exacerbating factors include geographic maldistribution—a significant maldistribution here in this state, which you’ll be hearing more about, I’m sure—and we also see disturbing trends among California physicians regarding patient enrollment.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me just reiterate because that really is the core is the maldistribution.  There’s a debate whether or not there are enough doctors in California.  In this Health Committee, as we look at rural areas and urban areas—the most underserved by federal designation and state designation—it is that overlay of where physicians are going; not whether or not we have enough of them.  So, thank you.


MS. DOWER:  Right.  Just to underline that, this is a graph showing the ratio of physician to population.  The dotted lines across the middle are the recommendations of needs that the Council on Graduate Medical Education put out.  We see that there are several areas or regions in California that fall within those ranges that were estimated a few years back now.  There are several regions that are oversupplied, by most estimates, including the North Valley, the Bay Area, Los Angeles, and Orange County.  There are several regions, though, that are undersupplied, and you can see the Central Valley, South Valley, and the Inland Empire.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  We can’t see the text.


MS. DOWER:  Yes.  On your reprints, it didn’t come out.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me walk through this.  The bottom bar is Central Valley, Sierra, South . . . 


MS. DOWER:  South Valley, Sierra, and Inland Empire.  Central Valley includes Alpine, Amador, Calaveras, San Joaquin, Stanislaus, and Tuolumne.  South Valley includes Merced, Fresno, Kern, Kings, Madera, and Mariposa.  Inland Empire, it’s Inyo, Mono, Riverside, and San Bernardino.  Those counties and those regions—and I’m sorry that your reprints didn’t come out properly.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’ll get those to the members.  Thank you for that.


MS. DOWER:  We’ll get those to you.

SENATOR DUCHENY:  Where does Imperial fall?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  She’ll go to the next graph above that.


MS. DOWER:  I wasn’t going to do them all, but I would be happy to.


Imperial is in the San Diego region, so that is in the middle bar.  According to our estimates, that comes within the COGME estimates.  It’s not above or beyond the estimates.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  That goes to the same problem.  That’s a maldistribution internal to the region.  I mean, there may be a large number of doctors in the San Diego area, but it doesn’t mean that they’re in Imperial County, even though Imperial is considered part of the same region.

MS. DOWER:  Absolutely.  Within each of these, you can break them down by county and then again by subcounty, cities, and inner-city areas.  We will still see shortages in many inner-city areas where the overall supply looks fine.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask—the 180 on that graph, is that the mid-range?


MS. DOWER:  The 180 is the maximum and the 125, or whatever it was, was. . . . it’s actually 145 to 185 was the range that COGME estimated the country needed.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  One forty-five and one eighty.


MS. DOWER:  That’s right.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Go ahead.


MS. DOWER:  The federal government, as you know, has designated about 124 inner-city and rural areas across California as health profession shortage areas for entire population and an additional 53 areas as shortage areas for low-income persons.


We also see a disturbing trend among physicians accepting new patients, with almost 100 percent claiming that they’re taking new patients but less than 60 percent taking new Medicaid, new uninsured, or new HMO patients.  

That concludes my prepared remarks.  We have additional information if you’re interested.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Let me ask the other speakers for the first panel to come forward.  They are Dr. Jaime Cruz, as well as Jeannette Cisneros, as well as Marina Rasnow-Hill and Moses Salgado who are students.  I believe that completes the speakers for this panel.  If the last speaker would like to stick around, there are likely to be questions.  

We did have a number of my colleagues joining us afterwards.  I don’t know if they want to weigh in with comments or wait until questions, but we’ve been joined by Assemblymember Horton—thank you for joining us—as well as Senator Kuehl.  I believe others were introduced earlier.

Any desire to . . . ?  Okay.  Thank you.

Jaime, welcome.  Good to see you.  I believe you’re the next speaker.  We are a little bit behind time, so I encourage you all to speak quickly.


DR. JAIME CRUZ:  Good afternoon, Senator Ortiz and esteemed members of the committee and colleagues.  My name is Dr. Jaime Cruz, and I thank you for the opportunity to present this testimony on a very vexing matter before you today.


As it’s already been stated, today’s topic—UC admissions and shortages in the healthcare workforce—cannot be completely analyzed nor debated without some discussion of statewide K-12 reform in public education.  However, I think we’d all agree that that discussion is beyond the scope of today’s hearing.  What is relevant and requires our attention today is the subject of the persistent specialty and geographic maldistribution of physicians as well as the history of affirmative action.


I’m here today to share my perspectives and those of a close colleague of mine—Dr. Hector Flores—who was unable to provide his own statement here today.  He asked me to convey some of his thoughts, which are quite powerful, and I hope to do justice to his words.


Dr. Flores and my testimony is from the perspective of two Latino physicians, both products of the University of California system.  Dr. Flores graduated from the UC Davis School of Medicine, and I graduated from the UC San Diego School of Medicine.  Both of us were recipients of various state and university directed initiatives which were designed to meaningfully address the multiple barriers confronting disadvantaged students pursuing a career in health professions.  Based upon most measures, these programs were successful.  Dr. Flores currently serves as the medical director of the Family Care Specialist Medical Group in East Los Angeles.  This is a medical corporation comprised of twenty-four family medicine physicians, three physician assistants, two nurse practitioners, and two behavioral scientists.  The medical group reflects the diversity of Southern California:  66 percent are Latino, 9 percent are Pacific Islander, 6 percent are African American, 19 percent are white, 50 percent are women, and 100 percent are committed to providing culturally responsive care in the community.


Dr. Flores is also the co-director of the White Memorial Medical Center, Family Medicine Residency Program.  Established in 1988, the Residency Program, from its beginning, has articulated an unwavering mission to train resident physicians to be excellent clinicians and to equip them with competencies required for successful practice in medically underserved communities.  The Residency’s commitment to excellence is best exemplified by its receipt of a maximum five-year accreditation with commendations from the Accreditation Council on Graduate Medical Education and by the academic accomplishments of its graduates.


I’m proud to tell you that I am one of the first graduates of the White Memorial Family Practice Residency Program.  I graduated in 1990, and as a result of the program’s community-focused, yet academically rigorous design, I embarked on an academic career path that led me to serve as the medical director of a federally qualified migrant health center in Fresno, California, and, at the same time, spearhead the development of the nation’s first accredited family medicine residency program called The Sequoia Pathway, sponsored by a safety-net clinic.  The Sequoia Pathway recruited twenty-five Latino physician faculty members, and 80 percent of the residents recruited were from underrepresented minority groups.  Many of these physicians recruited still practice in the Fresno community.


Since then, and over the last fifteen years, I have replicated variations of the White Memorial model as the associate director in Sacramento for Sutter Health and most recently as the director of academic affairs at a community hospital in Pomona, California.  Both programs experience similar levels of success in terms of attracting underrepresented minority faculty members and residents and having them remain in practice in communities that are most in need of their services.  As for me, I’ve gone full circle professionally and am currently an academic consultant to the Family Medicine Residency Program at White Memorial.

I’m eager to share with the committee that both the White Memorial Residency Program and the two programs that I have previously directed maintain an exemplary record in improving the diversity of the healthcare workforce through the purposeful identification early in their medical career of medical students who culturally, linguistically, and experientially mirror the populations that need their services.  We provide students with longitudinal mentorship opportunities in order to enrich their clinical knowledge and nurture their leadership potential.  Our record in these matters has led to both our programs being recognized as the “Workforce Diversity Leader” among all of California’s family medicine residency programs by the California Healthcare Workforce Policy Commission.  To date, 65 percent of the White Memorial graduates have been from ethnic groups known to be underrepresented in the health professions.  Fifty-two percent have been women.  Seventy percent of the graduates are working in medically underserved areas, and the rest are successfully practicing in culturally diverse communities where healthcare disparities are high.

In the interest of time, we had a few recommendations, if it’s okay to share those.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Could you go through those very quickly?  We are anxious to hear them.


DR. CRUZ:  The first one is that the University of California must increase the number of African American, Native American, and Latino physicians because they have a greater likelihood of practicing in medically underserved areas, and they have a greater likelihood of pursuing academic careers that address the needs of vulnerable populations.


The second is to modernize admission policies at the UC medical schools to reflect a greater appreciation for the competitive skill set of minority and disadvantaged students who may bring slightly lower grade point averages and medical college admission tests—their MCAT scores—but nonetheless have academic promise and exemplary skills in translating medical knowledge into patient care.


Actual data from the AAMC, which is the Association of American Medical Colleges, has demonstrated that minority and disadvantaged students experience similar rates of success in medical school and medical practice as their more affluent white counterparts, and they’re more likely to meet the expectations of the diverse patient populations.  I think it’s clear that once the students get in, they meet the expectations of what to do when they leave.


The third is expand the enrollment capacity of UC post-baccalaureate programs for minority and disadvantaged students interested in medical careers.


Four, UC must tangibly increase support for cultural and linguistic competence training for all physicians who graduate from UC medical schools and residency programs.  One example specifically is the Prime-LC model at UC Irvine and the UCLA and UCSF cross-cultural medicine programs for medical students.  These are noble and exemplary first installments . . .

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Dr. Cruz, I really want to get your recommendations, but if they’re in writing, we can get those to our colleagues.


DR. CRUZ:  Okay.  I think that’s . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Wonderful.  So, thank you for that, but do stick around for questions.  We are about fifteen minutes behind schedule, and we have four more speakers.


Can I ask all of you in the interest of time to try to move through very quickly?  If, in fact, you have written testimony, let us know, and we can share that with the members if you want to go through the highlights.


Next speaker is Dr. Jeannette Cisneros.


DR. JEANNETTE CISNEROS:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz, for inviting me to this hearing.  


I am Jeannette Cisneros.  I am a graduate of the UC San Diego Medical School, and I’ve been in practice in an underserved community for twenty-one years in a primary care/specialty family practice.


When I was a student, we had to do a senior research project.  A colleague of mine and I did a study looking at practice patterns of physicians after medical school, and we found that students from underserved communities and minorities tended to return to those communities at a much greater percentage than traditional students.  It saddens me to see that this hasn’t changed and in fact is getting worse—the acceptance rate, that is, of the medical schools.


I speak to this issue from both a professional and a personal point of view in that my son just went through the admissions system for medical school this past year and was not even allowed to interview at any of the UC schools, yet was interviewed and accepted at state schools from other states.  He’s now attending University of Pittsburg and is performing exceptionally, I’m proud to say.


I work in Marina Clinic.  It’s a federally qualified health center that’s in Monterey County.  Throughout my twenty-one years, I’ve worked with the underserved community.  When I started, I was the only woman and only Latina that was delivering babies in Salinas, with a population of over 100,000.  Not a lot has changed.  There are a few more Latinas and a few more women, of course, but the numbers are still terrible.


When we try to recruit physicians to work in community clinics, it’s just so difficult to recruit anyone.  Usually we get people that have loan obligations, and once their loan obligations are paid up, then they leave.  Right now, the residency program at Natividad is a primary care family practice program that trains people to work in a rural community.  Six out of the eight residents that were accepted last year were foreign medical graduates.  What does that tell you about the type of student that we are selecting and where they’re going out to practice?


I brought graphs—and I made copies for people—where you can see the number of American medical students that are filling family medicine positions is just dramatically falling, and it’s very well-illustrated on the graphs.  Also, a second graph just looks at all primary care positions, not just family practice.


And I also handed out a table in case anyone’s interested in looking at the statistics from the National Resident Matching Program.  It’s the match data, and it compares from 2000 to 2004.  You can see the numbers going into primary care.  Those positions are filled at a very low level by U.S. graduates, and we’re having to turn to foreign medical graduates to fill those positions.  Yet, the numbers that go into dermatology or medical genetics or nonprimary care fields, those are filled 100 percent by United States medical students.


I know in my community, with the farm workers and the hotel and restaurant workers in Monterey County—and over 50 percent Latino—we need doctors terribly.  There are no physicians in private practice that accept Medicaid.  I do not have any psychiatrists in the whole county that accept Medicare.  I’m having to refer my Medicare patients that need psychiatric care outside of the county.  The reason that we have so many federally qualified health centers in Monterey County is because if we didn’t, where would those Medi-Cal patients go?  They’d have to go to outside counties:  Santa Cruz, San Benito, or San Luis Obispo.  It’s just really sad, and it doesn’t seem to be getting any better with the trends that UC medical schools have now.

Anyway, those are the main points I wanted to discuss.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  I’m sure there’ll be questions.  It’s very helpful for you to frame the issues, but let’s go to the next speaker and see if we can again speed it up so we can open it up for questions from members.


Welcome.  Please introduce yourself.


MR. MOSES SALGADO:  Good afternoon.  My name is Moses Salgado.  I’m a fourth-year medical student at UC Davis School of Medicine.  I’m also the northern coordinator, a co-president, of the Latino Medical Student Association, which is a multi-state organization with chapters in Arizona, Utah, and each of the University of California medical schools—Stanford, USC, as well as Western University.  So, I’m here to represent myself, medical students from the Davis School of Medicine, as well as students from across the State of California.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And you’re in your last year, I understand.


MR. SALGADO:  Last year.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You made it through.  Good.


MR. SALGADO:  I’ll try to go quickly.  Really, what I want to talk about is this concept of a “risky student” that medical students throughout the state who are involved in medical school admissions have come to realize.


I was born and raised in Chula Vista, down by San Diego.  I went to undergraduate school at the University of California, San Diego.  Graduated from there.  Took a couple of years to work, save up money, and then apply to medical school.  In applying to medical school, I interviewed across the nation, and I would have to say that my worst interview was at University of California, Davis.  They made me feel really uncomfortable.  My interviewer essentially said, You know, I have a lot of other things to do.  I have to get this done, so let’s just get down to question number one and get this over with.  I left that interview feeling like I just spent a lot of money and a lot of time to come up to interview with this medical school, and I really felt like there was no way I was actually going to come to this university.  Ultimately, I was only accepted to Davis, in California, and I never received any phone call or any encouragement to attend the university.  At the same time, universities in Chicago, New York, and Boston were calling me up and saying, Hey, we really want you to come here, trying to offer me incentives, a better financial aid package.  It was just a very different experience at Davis.  Ultimately, I decided to come to Davis because it’s in California and it’s a primary care school.  I’m a California resident, so financially it was just the best way to go.


That’s my experience, at least getting into medical school and starting at the Davis School of Medicine.  Since then, I’ve really been involved in working with undergraduates, mentoring them, and this past five years, all of my focus has been working on the Latino Medical Student Association.  I’m advising them and helping them get into medical school, and it’s been really frustrating with the lack of opportunities for them.  I’m really frustrated by the lack of response by the medical schools, and I’m mostly frustrated by the overt—how should I say—ability to skew the issues and sort of stall any changes at the medical school admissions.  At least that’s my experience so far.

Right now, you can see the current numbers.  This was what was reported from Dr. Behr(?) last week, and these numbers are enrollment admissions; and they can change, so he may provide some updated information.  What you can see here is that the top row is African Americans that had received secondary applications—181.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  I want you to speak a little louder and a little more clearly regarding this graph.


MR. SALGADO:  Sure.


So, the first column is secondary applications.  Every student has a primary application; then, if the schools like them, they send them a secondary application.  If they pass the screening for the secondary application, they are offered an interview.  And then depending on the outcome of the interview, they’ll be offered admission.  Now, if they are offered an admission, it doesn’t necessarily mean they will attend that university, because they are offered multiple admissions in most cases.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, these are students that applied in the fall of . . .


MR. SALGADO:  Actually, I don’t have the number of applications.  Just the number of secondaries that were sent out.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  They passed the first screening.


MR. SALGADO:  Passed the first screening.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But what year is this?


MR. SALGADO:  This is for the current year.  Active admissions at UC Davis.  So, 181 African Americans received secondaries.  Seventeen received an interview, and so far five have been admitted.  For a Caucasian, it’s been 1,772 secondaries, 120 interviews, and 35 admissions.  Mexican American, 220, 27 interviews, and two admissions.  And you can go ahead and read down the line.  Native American, 45, five interviews, admits one.  And “Other Latino,” which is OL, five interviews and one admission.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, it looks like about a 10 percent drop-off between secondary and those that are interviewed.  And then from there it drops off considerably.


MR. SALGADO:  Right.  The interesting thing is that these are all students who have been screened, have been deemed academically capable and would do well at the university; otherwise, they wouldn’t receive an interview.  But if you do the numbers and you just do a quick calculation, if you are interviewed at the University of Davis School of Medicine and you’re Caucasian, you have a 29 percent chance of being directly admitted.  But if you’re Mexican American, it goes to 7 percent.


Now, a lot of these students are put on hold—they haven’t been denied admissions yet—but the process is different for the underrepresented minority applications.  And this goes back to this concept of this risky medical student that you see in particular at UC Davis, UC Irvine, and UC San Diego, as opposed to the other universities where they have identified their great leadership skills, their commitment to their community, and where they’re accepted to other great universities.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, let me make sure I understand, Moses.  We have a policy in these three medical schools, formal or informal—and we’ll hear from the deans, and we’re going to give them an opportunity to address this—that differs from the other UC or California non-UC medical schools?  I’m asking for clarification.


MR. SALGADO:  Each of the medical schools has their own admissions policies.  It’s just clear that these schools are falling behind other universities.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And you should know, I think we sought written policies, and I don’t know that we actually were able to get written policies from them.  We’ll hear from the UC deans.  That’s why I invited them.


SENATOR COX:  Madam Chair, you can’t come to the conclusion . . . 


MR. SALGADO:  That there’s a specific policy.


SENATOR COX:  You can’t come to the conclusion these numbers suggest without having additional information.  You have no idea as to whether or not these students have decided to go someplace else for whatever reason.


MR. SALGADO:  These are just admits.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No, no, Mr. Salgado.  Don’t speak.  Let me allow Senator Cox to finish what he was saying.


SENATOR COX:  I just wanted to make the point that you can’t reach the conclusion this gentleman has reached based upon that which he has in fact presented us with.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So noted.  And as I was going to say, I was asking him whether there’s a policy, either formal or informal, in writing that he can show us.


MR. SALGADO:  I would not say there’s a policy, a formal policy.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Let’s have you finish your presentation.  But let me also indicate, Senator Cox’s comment regarding those we don’t know if they went somewhere else, I think that is correct, and we’ll hear that they in fact do go somewhere else and why.


MR. SALGADO:  Some interesting things that I’ve heard from other students from around the state is that in particular at UC Irvine, when they’re offering their admissions to their students, they will in fact wait for admissions to other UC schools before they will offer or extend an invitation to their university.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Why don’t you say that louder so all the members of the panel can hear that.


MR. SALGADO:  At UC Irvine in particular, they will wait for admission to other UC medical schools before they will extend an invitation to attend their university.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, they’re on a waiting list for UC Irvine.  They get admitted into other UC medical schools before they’re admitted into Irvine. 


MR. SALGADO:  Right.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’ll allow Irvine to comment on that and see if they have anything to support that—or refute that.


MR. SALGADO:  So, it’s interesting that it goes back to this idea of this risky medical student, that they’re not really sure how they’re going to perform, so they wait for other UCs to confirm that, Yeah, they can do it.  Then they’ll go ahead and extend an invitation.


Some interesting things at UC Davis is that depending on what university you come from, your grade point average may be weighted differently, not as a specific policy but overall from the . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You know what?  I can’t hear you.  You’re going to have to speak louder and more directly into the mike.


MR. SALGADO:  Depending on which university you come from—and we have a specific example of a student from Xavier who had a grade point average, and the faculty said that, well, essentially their grade point average didn’t mean as much because they were coming from this university, which happens to be, historically, an African American institution.  And so, the overall point that I’m getting to is that they look at the undergraduate, the URM applications differently.  There’s no specific policy.  There’s nothing in writing.  But it’s just the way that they are treated when they get to committee.  That’s all.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.


MR. SALGADO:  Just some specific examples so that you can see that this is not isolated cases; that these happen for a number of students on a continuing basis.  Here’s a student here who applied to all of the California schools except for Loma Linda.  They received secondaries from all the schools except for UC Davis.  They were interviewed at UCLA, UC San Francisco, USC, were accepted to UCLA and USC, and are now attending UCLA.  They weren’t even offered a secondary UC Davis.


Here’s another student who applied to all the California schools and others out of state.  They received secondaries from all of the California schools.  They were interviewed at UCSF, UCI, UCD, and others outside of the state.  They were accepted to UC San Francisco and others outside of the state and are now attending UC San Francisco.  

Other schools—they’re just overlooking them.  They’re attending these incredible institutions but just completely overlooked at Davis and other programs.


And something else I wanted to talk about that is really not part of the admissions process but part of the overall sort of culture of the medical school . . .

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask you to hold off on that because we have to hear from Dean Drake before he leaves on a plane, and we have one other student.  Can I ask you to do it in less than two minutes?  Or hold off?


MR. SALGADO:  I can skip it, or we can wait.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I really think it’s important.  


MR. SALGADO:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I thank you, and I apologize.  It’s all valuable information, but I want to make sure that we. . . . go ahead.  Wrap up.


MR. SALGADO:  Some solutions I think are really important, so I want to end on a positive note.  First and foremost is that the medical schools need to recognize that there is a problem.  For the past five years that I’ve been working with the administrations, they will continually deny that there is a problem.  They will continue to skirt the issues and say that they’re doing a great job at admissions but have yet to say, Yes, there’s a problem and we need to address it.


I really hope that they can realize that there is this perception of this risky student that is simply skewed and not true because Latino students and African American students who are attending medical schools do as well as their counterparts all across the board.  They really need to make this a priority, not simply by words but actually do some action.  Just one example is that they should work with other universities that are succeeding and making great strides in getting students into their medical schools who are going to work in underserved communities. 

Thank you.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  Where are you trying to be placed?  Or where do you hope to serve?


MR. SALGADO:  Well, I want to stay in California.  That’s the goal.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Come on back to Chula Vista.  Can you give us what you did in writing, like some of the other folks did?

MR. SALGADO:  Sure, I certainly can.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  I mean, just give us a copy of the PowerPoint.  That would be helpful.  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And we’ll make sure that gets to all the members of the committee.


I apologize, you were supposed to go earlier.  And we do have Dean Drake who has to catch a flight, so I’m going to ask you to go ahead and go first.  We’re going to accommodate him around 2:45.


So, welcome, Ms. Marina Rasnow-Hill.


MS. MARINA RASNOW-HILL:  Good afternoon.  My name is Marina Rasnow-Hill.  I am a second year medical student at Davis.


I had a presentation and testimony prepared in writing that I’ll forward to you, but I’m going to deviate from that in the interest of time and just kind of add to what my colleagues have presented previously and try to give a little bit more of a personal account of what these numbers actually mean to a student such as myself who is one of only two African Americans in my medical school class and one of only eight in the entire medical school at Davis.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And what’s the total student population in all of the medical school?


MS. RASNOW-HILL:  I would say about a little less than 400.  There’s, on average, 96 students per class, four years of class, and there’s only eight      medical . . . . nine.  I’m sorry, there’s nine African American medical students.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Nine out of roughly 400 students in total?


MS. RASNOW-HILL:  Yes ma’am.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Do you know what the numbers are for Latinos at the UC Davis Medical School?


MR. SALGADO:  Interestingly, the numbers that are reported, we actually don’t believe that they’re true.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Well, we’ll allow the UC to present those numbers as well.  But go ahead.


MS. RASNOW-HILL:  It’s true.  You know, things on paper don’t necessarily translate into what’s actually happening.


In addition to being a second-year medical student, I am also chapter president of the Student National Medical Association, which is the national student organization of the National Medical Association; essentially a huge organization of African American medical students.  Very strong national organization.  Has chapters all over the country.  And we have a very small but successful chapter at UC Davis.  I’m also on the regional board of directors for the entire western region of this organization, the SNMA.  And so, I’m speaking to you on behalf of my chapter and on behalf of the region, whom I told I was coming to this conference.  I just want to bring up that this is a concern for all of the chapters at the UC schools, but we’re the only region who has this problem.  I mean, you go to other medical schools all over the country, they have huge chapters, and they have schools that support them.  Even some chapters in the State of California—at UCLA and UCSF—their schools are supportive of their chapters, and at Davis we struggle.  


And so, I’ll just give you a little bit of background about myself.  I grew up in Southern California—Ventura County.  At age sixteen I attended Xavier University.  It’s the school that they talked about.  It’s  ________ black university; an excellent, supportive environment for somebody aspiring to be a doctor for their whole life, like me.  After I graduated from Xavier, I was accepted at Harvard, Cornell, UCSF, USC, Case Western University, and Davis.   I chose to come to Davis out of all of those schools—Ivy League schools, schools all over the country—because it’s been my lifelong dream to serve in my community.  I want to be a family practitioner.  I want to serve in my community, and it’s been my dream my whole life, and Davis seemed to be the school that supported that.  They showed me about the clinics.  As you know, Davis has six student-run clinics.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  The Imani Clinic, the Clinica Tepati, and a couple of others.


MS. RASNOW-HILL:  Yes ma’am.  I forgot to mention, I am co-director of Imani Clinic—one of three.  So, that’s why I chose to come to Davis.  Honestly, I think that Davis, if I’m not mistaken, still prides itself on these clinics.  It was the reason that I came here.


One of the problems that we’re facing now is that in the medical school class there’s not enough medical students to keep these clinics running.  I mean, we’re struggling.  There are only three co-directors.  We just had interviews last night—there’s a few more—who finally showed an interest in taking on the leadership roles, but there’s across the board a lack of—regardless of race—a lack of students who are showing a commitment that their time as medical students is important to give back to the community.  And I think this is a problem that reflects across the board once these students become physicians and go out into the workforce.  If it wasn’t important to them while they were medical students and when they have even less time as a practicing physician, it’s not going to be important to them either.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Senator Ducheny?


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Just one comment.  I mean, how much of this could be related to the amount of loans they’re now having to take out in the face of student fee increases over the last three years?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Good point.  For those who don’t know, the Imani Clinic is in Oak Park, which is the neighborhood I grew up in, traditionally African American, poor; now more, actually, immigrant Latino on the south end.  Clinica Tepati, when I was an undergrad, was Alkali Flats.  It’s still there, run by students, all volunteers.  And those two clinics are, quite frankly, partly funded by our county and are at risk of closing.  Imani, I think, did close or was close to closing last year.  So, really powerful but all student-run.

MS. RASNOW-HILL:  I don’t know about being close to closing—I mean, we’re going strong—but I know that it’s up to us as medical students to find the grants, to solicit the support that we need, and it’s hard because there’s only a few medical students who are committed to working in these clinics.


So, if I don’t get any other point across, my ultimate goal, aside from the fact. . . . like, I can’t get across how it feels when I walked into my classroom on the first day and there was only one other person who looked like me.  All of these things I could talk about.  If Davis prides itself on its community service, and that’s what it says, then it needs to start bringing in students, regardless of their race, who are committed to serving the clinics.  

I have a prepared testimony that covers some more issues regarding outreach and things like that, but in the interest of time, I’ll leave it at that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And I know we have questions, and I want you to be able to have time for our colleagues to ask, so stay here.  Let me ask what’s the desire of my colleagues.  We do have Michael Drake, who is a dean, who is the vice president of Health Affairs at the University of California, in the president’s office. He has a flight to catch, and we’re going to accommodate him.

Can we have you come forward?  And then we’ll hold off questions until after your testimony.  I apologize.


DR. MICHAEL DRAKE:  I have forty-five minutes or so before I need to leave.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I don’t know if Mr. Cox wanted to ask questions of this panel or. . . . let’s allow Senator Cox to ask his question.


SENATOR COX:  Dr. Cruz, maybe you don’t have the answer for Dr. Flores, and if you don’t it’s okay, but I was a little bit surprised to see Dr. Flores advocating for lowering the bar, if you will, relative to admission standards.  I read the explanation about people do as well.  My question to you is simply this:  How far do you have to lower the bar in order to get the number of medical students that you think that Dr. Flores thinks is necessary to meet the need?


DR. CRUZ:  Senator, I think the issue isn’t so much lower the bar as I don’t think we know what the bar really is.  I think that we really have to look at both the relevancy of noncognitive and its impact on success as well as the cognitive factors.  I think we have been relying on, perhaps, methodologies that are dated in terms of the indicators of success.  The AAMC has already shown that; that there’s a body of evidence that’s clear.  It may not depend on what your efforts were to get into medical school because, at the end, the people who graduate—whether they’re at whatever bar you might consider—they’re both at the same level in terms of outcomes.  So, I think it’s clear that we really don’t . . .


SENATOR COX:  Dr. Cruz, don’t you have a situation where one group, which may or may not be a minority, has busted their behind to get the very best grades that they can, and then you allow someone else in who hasn’t met the standard?


DR. CRUZ:  Well, I think that’s sort of anecdotal when you look at it because I think both people would say they’ve busted their behinds.  I think it’s a matter of how do you value that behind-busting?  [Laughter.]  And I think that’s what we’re asking, is the universities to put . . .

SENATOR DUCHENY:  Well, and the question is:  How small do we keep the pool?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think Senator Cox’s comments come from under the Recommendation Number 2 that is in the written statement of Dr. Flores’ reference to “. . . bring slightly lower grade point average and MCAT scores but who nonetheless have academic promise and exemplary skills in translating medical knowledge into patient care.”  I think we’ll hear from the foundations—and we’ve heard from all of these students here and practitioners—if the lowering of the bar is still at the permissible level in which they’ve been accepted to many other medical schools across the country or it’s a range within the bar.  But the argument is, is if one is going to rely on the empirical objective MCAT and GPA.  There are countless studies that suggest that the range of these students who get in clearly are within the range of acceptable acceptance across universities and medical schools, and the correlation between being two points below another candidate versus two points above, that there hasn’t been demonstrated a difference in their performance and their ability to graduate.  But that’s the science of MCATs and GPAs, and maybe we can get that information for others.  It’s how one characterizes the difference in GPAs.  

We really need to move on.


Oh.  Senator Kuehl.  And welcome Senator Scott, the chair of the budget subcommittee that governs higher ed in the Senate, and Senator Kuehl.


SENATOR SHEILA KUEHL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I think it’s an interesting discussion and one I think that merits, perhaps, more discussion sometime.  But since I was turned down at UCLA for law school and was forced to go to Harvard—[laughter]—and I was on their admissions committee for a while.  Harvard has, as does Yale and a number of other eastern schools—and some, even, of the state schools in the East—has a broader array of criteria that they look at, having found that GPA and even your initial test score doesn’t really predict either success in school or, even more importantly, success in the profession.  So, what Harvard used to call the “sparkle factor” has come to play quite a bit more.  Although I didn’t read the statement, I wouldn’t characterize it as lowering the bar so much as reflecting the experience of schools that are ranked even higher than our California schools in the country in terms of how they look at the potential for students’ success in school and in the various professions after graduate school or after trade school, as, I’m sorry, we call the mid-school and the law school and maybe even the B school.


SENATOR COX:  Madam Chair?

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Senator Cox.


SENATOR COX:  And I appreciate that.  Let me just tell you—if I’ve got a serious medical condition, I’m not looking for the sparkle factor.  I’m looking for the brightest person there that can get the job done.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think we’re looking at him here.


SENATOR KUEHL:  If they got an A in geometry in high school, maybe that’s not what you’re looking for.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Assemblymember Horton and then Senator Ducheny, and then we’ll go back to . . .


SENATOR DUCHENY:  No, I don’t have any comment.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Assemblymember Horton?


ASSEMBLYMEMBER JEROME HORTON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

First let me commend the students and Dr. Cruz for coming forward.  Dr. Cruz actually offered a series of solutions that I think will be very, very interesting in being able to address the issue of medically underserved communities.  In many of the communities in which the students here will go back and represent it, they are far beyond the federal criteria of medically underserved, which is one doctor per every 3,000 patients.  In fact, you will find that in many of these communities you have one doctor per every 7,000 residents.  So, whether you have the option of having a doctor at all is the question that’s before us in many of these communities.


Relative to their qualification, I would just share an analogy—or a true statement, a study, that was done of all the graduates of the Ivy League schools between the period of 1987 and 1993.  The study found that the students who had graduated with an A average were actually the owners of the company.  And the students who had graduated with a B average were the CFOs of the company.  And the students who graduated with a C average actually owned the company.  And so, there are subjective variables that should be considered in any analysis, and if you don’t consider those subjective variables, what you can end up with is systemic racism or systemic separation.  

And so, I think it is wise that we look at this from a conclusive and an aggregate perspective as opposed to isolating out whether or not we’ve reached a bar or there is some criteria.  The fact is, is we’re not looking at this as half empty; it’s half full.  And so, if we operate from that perspective, I think we can begin to address the real problem here:  the medically underserved communities.  They don’t have doctors, and we need to figure out a way to get doctors into those communities.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for bringing that all together.  Appreciate that.


Thank you, all.  You’re welcome to stay here.


As Dr. Michael Drake, who is the vice president of Health Affairs at the University of California, kicks off our second panel discussion, the “Discussion of Current UC Medical School Admissions Policy and Practices in Relation to Workforce Needs,” and is setting up his presentation, I’m going to put this out there because I think we’ll have the UC deans address this, although they represent only three of the medical schools.  I was frantically trying to put together a chronology of some issues that were a bit troubling.  I know from my days as a staff person, my predecessor in the Assembly—Assemblymember Isenberg—in 1993 introduced a piece of legislation.  He was fairly troubled with the outcomes of educating primary care physicians, and he saw this underserved problem only increasing.  And that bill, that year, in March of 1993, which was AB 1855, would have required the University of California to achieve certain goals in its medical school concerning enrollment of medical residents and extended-year residents in primary care programs—because, again, they’re the ones that go to the underserved areas primarily—and family practitioners, and it would apply only to UC, as we can’t mandate UC.  It would only do so by resolution.  If it didn’t meet these certain goals, it would require a reduction in their budget.  And let me repeat that for those who are members of the Budget Committee.  It would have required a reduction in their budget in any fiscal year in which the University failed to meet these goals.  And that was premised upon the understanding that taxpayers of California pay for our UC system, but we end up paying for it in inadequate healthcare.

In 1994, then-Governor Wilson vetoed that piece of legislation.  His veto message said, “I’m vetoing it because we’re entering into a historic MOU between the University of California and the Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development.”  And this veto message of 1994 said that “The agreement will increase the number of primary care physicians trained in UC colleges to 56 percent in 1998 and 70 percent in 2001.”


So, that MOU was entered into.  We’ve had a hard time getting our hands on it despite repeated requests.  We finally got a shortened version, I think, of the MOU.  We got it last night at four o’clock.  That MOU existed between 1994 and the sunset date of the veto—or the MOU’s terms—which was 2002.  So, between 1994 and 2002, arguably when those goals should have been met based on the veto message, we’ve had a hard time getting reports on whether or not those goals were met.


So, here we are in year 2005 and we have sort of a short one-pager from the UC that said, Oh, there’re all these unintended impacts of the MOU.   I assume we didn’t meet the goals, but it doesn’t make it very clear.  I just want the public to know, we’re going to spend a bit more time on what I think was an expectation under Governor Wilson that this agreement entered into between the University of California and OSHPD would in fact achieve the objectives that we have yet to achieve, I suspect.  And I know some good things are being done, and we’re going to hear from Dr. Drake regarding some programs that show great promise and were referenced by Dr. Cruz, but I don’t know that that’s the full resolution.


I just got in my hands a seventh report, July 2002, from the University of California which I think reflects the last report upon the termination of the memorandum of understanding that assumed certain goals.  I haven’t looked through it extensively, but hopefully we’ll have a whole hearing on whether or not the goals and objectives of the MOU, the legislation, and the veto message were met at all; and if not, why not, and can we get there somehow?


I’m going to save that for another time.  I would entertain the budget committee chairs to be a part of that discussion since, of course, the UC is the only institution we can’t mandate.  So, with that, I wanted to frame the issue on work to be done.


Welcome, Dr. Drake.


DR. DRAKE:  Thank you.  I have, actually, the full copy of the seventh report here.  They’re on our website.  And I’ll make this available to you today so you can have it.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Wonderful.  We’ll have the sergeants present that, and we’ll get that to all the members of the committee.  Thank you.


DR. DRAKE:  We, of course, have sent those before.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Welcome.  And you do have written testimony, so.


DR. DRAKE:  Yes.  And so, I’ll say a few things. 


I appreciate, Madam Chair, the acknowledgement that I’m leaving tonight; to go to Washington, actually, to talk about these very issues and some of the things that we have to initiate today so that as we’re three and five years down the line, we’re looking at a better future.  So, I appreciate your indulging my schedule to let me get to that airplane.


My name is Dr. Michael Drake.  I’m the University of California’s vice president for Health Affairs, and it’s a pleasure to join you here today on a topic that is of great importance to all Californians and ultimately to everyone in the country and beyond:  the preparation of a physician and healthcare workforce that meets the needs of the people we serve.  This is difficult, time-consuming, but crucially important work.  The enemies—disease and suffering—are relentless.  The barriers—racism and poverty—are ubiquitous.  Any hope of turning the tide rests with combining our efforts in meaningful, concrete steps forward.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Dr. Drake, my colleagues have said that the testimony is available, and we can read it.  Do you want to highlight that so we can get to questions?


SENATOR KUEHL:  Or just say it in your own words?  I tend to lose it after the third sentence of somebody reading to me.  So, I’d rather have you say what you want to tell us.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That way we have time for questions.


DR. DRAKE:  Okay.  So, what I’d like to say is it was very interesting listening to the panel of students.  I, in fact, was the chair of the SNMA at my school, and the regional director, and enjoyed an academic career after that.  I was very involved academically and politically in issues of diversity when I started medical school in 1971.  When I applied to medical school—or when I started college, the only medical schools that were open to people of color were Howard and Meharry.  During college, things happened that really created a different atmosphere in a few places, and notably and interestingly and importantly for me, UC San Francisco was one of those places where there was a work stoppage action on the part of the workers and then, I think, some enlightened leadership with Dr. Philip Lee, who was the chancellor, that changed the policy of the school and the square wave to try to have 25 percent of the class be underrepresented minorities.  And this was truly a life change for me because I knew I was going to medical school; I was preparing to move to Tennessee.  Going to school in California was something that I was really quite encouraged about.

When I was there I became active, as many of us were, in the kinds of issues that were necessary to bring this enterprise forward:  visiting colleges and universities, working with the student organizations, et cetera.  During the time that I was in college—or medical school, excuse me—we saw this increase continue.  Actually, UC Davis joined the fray next and had a program that allowed—or reserved—about 16 percent of their slots for underrepresented minorities in the 1970s.  Their numbers, which had been dismal when they opened in 1968, began to climb.  A student who was denied admission in that time period—Alan Bakke—sued, which led to the Bakke case, which, I would say, is one of the two most important higher education pieces of case law during the twentieth century.


What happened in the country—and one of the points I want to make—is if you look at our graph of what happened between 1968 and the end of the Civil Rights Movement and at the time of the Bakke decision, the graph was increasing and then it got absolutely flat, and it stayed flat across the country until about 1990.  So, there was about a fifteen-year chilling effect that followed directly from Bakke.  And I’d just make the point that we were the defendants in Bakke—the University of California.

I joined the admissions committee after joining the faculty at UCSF, and we were very interested in maintaining our program.  We had Bakke-compliant policies and were actually quite successful.  Between 22 and 25 percent, and at times as high as 28 percent, of the class was underrepresented minorities through the 1980s.  So, that worked out very, very nicely.  We joined a national program called Project 3000 by 2000, sponsored by the AAMC and a colleague of mine named Dr. Herbert Nickens, and that sought to do two things:  have partnerships between educational institutions to help increase the size of the pool, and then to use affirmative action to admit people at accelerated rates from those schools.  That worked quite well.  And the University of California, I’m happy to say, at that time at least, was a leader nationally in these arenas.  Of the 120 medical schools in the United States, four of the UC schools were among the top eight in diversity in the early 1990s.  


But like it happened twenty years before, this success in diversity and admissions had its cost, and the cost in the early nineties was a case that was brought by a man who was denied admission from UC San Diego, and he found sympathy with some of our regents.  And then, the regents, against the wishes of the president and the chancellors and the Academic Senate—and my first testimony before the regents was against this policy—the regents voted for SP-1, which eliminated the use of affirmative action in our schools, followed a year later by Proposition 209, which changed the Constitution.  

One of the points that I want to make, I guess again, is if you look at the graph—the graph going up steeply until 1975 and then absolutely flattened until 1990 and then going up again until 1994/95 and then flattened slightly, tailing down after that—the chilling effect of SP-1 and 2 and the chilling effect of 209 really killed thirty years of hard work that we had made.

In fact, just an interesting fact that I was proud of at the time, but it’s a tragic historical footnote in a way now, is we had schools that actually had more underrepresented minorities in their classes than the population representation of those individuals in the early 1990s; but that was too much for some, and our policies were then changed from within and without.


When this happened, our challenge was, really, to go forward and say, Now what are we going to do, now that this is the case; that the Constitution of the state has changed?  I was dean of admissions at the time.  We changed our admissions policies.  We changed the way that we were evaluating things that students brought to us.  We adjusted.  And in fact, by the late 1990s, we were making the same number of offers to minority students that we had made before the changes in policy by SP-1 and 2 and by Proposition 209.  


The problem that we ran into in the late ’90s was that our yield began to drop dramatically.  Because we’d had this long history of being a friendly, welcoming place for minority students in the eighties and early nineties, we had a very good chance, if we admitted a student to one of our schools, of having that student come.  At UCSF, where I was, we would admit about 70 percent of our minority students.  By the late nineties, that dropped to about 38 percent; meaning, most of the minority students we admitted were turning to go elsewhere. And actually, I’d say that . . .


SENATOR DUCHENY:  If they get better financial aid at Harvard, that becomes a problem.

DR. DRAKE:  You know, you make a very important point, Senator Ducheny.  What happened was, as we kind of backed off a little bit, as we now had constraints, the schools that competed with us for these very best students—my undergraduate alma mater Stanford would be one; Harvard would be another—said, Look what they’re doing at UC.  They don’t want you there.  You need to come to a place where you’re welcome.  And that was a very powerful message.


There’s a study that was published just last week by the Association of American Medical Colleges which looked at the criteria upon which medical students make decisions.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER HORTON:  Excuse me, Doctor.  Is there any validity in that message?


DR. DRAKE:  In which message?


ASSEMBLYMEMBER HORTON:  The message that the California state schools don’t want you, so therefore come to Stanford.


DR. DRAKE:  No.  Let me say that I was the person who was admitting the students at UCSF.  My wish to have them there, which has been a commitment I’ve had for my whole life, did not change because of a policy that I fought against being passed by the regents.  But I’ll say that when it’s in the newspaper, it was very hard to overcome that.  


On the campuses these were very popular programs, and we wanted to continue things to go forward.  As I mentioned, despite the changes in the Constitution, we made the same number of offers by 1998 that we’d made by 1994.  We were working as hard as we could to have this happen, but there was a lot of information there.  I would say the reading in the newspapers and hearing what our regents—again, against our wishes—had voted for and then what the people of California had voted for, there was a chilling effect that was quite profound.


Let me just say these two things, Assemblyman Horton.  One is, if you look at what minority black and Latino students list as the most important criteria in choosing their school, they list “friendliness” and “curriculum” as the top two things that help them choose a school.  Majority students tend to list the reputation of the school.  And so, what was really tarnished by these policies was the appearance of the friendliness of the institutions.  Again, I’d say no change in the people, just the change in policy that happened externally.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Dr. Drake, let me interrupt you for a moment.  Assemblymember Dymally would like to ask a question or weigh in.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER DYMALLY:  No, no—when he finishes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.


DR. DRAKE:  I’m almost there.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Let me also take a moment to introduce Senator Scott who’s joined us, as well as Senator Runner and Assemblymember Carol Liu.  Welcome.


DR. DRAKE:  So, I’m just saying that this perception happened with the policies that changed in California—and I know that I’ve been in this building and this room and other places arguing against those with many of you—but that perception was very powerful.  

And then what happens is, as the class sizes start shrinking below that critical mass, we have the issue that the young lady at UC Davis mentioned, or the issue that I experienced in elementary school here in Sacramento, where you don’t want to be the only one like you in your class.  A cohort that welcomes you is a really important, attractive feature.  And so, it really was something that we were frightened about in the mid-’90s when these policies were being proposed, and then devastated later on that, really, students that we were admitting were going other places, and then the cohort began to shrink.


What we have to do, though, is take this as the reality and go forward because the problems that we face are still there.  And so, we pulled together a statewide committee—in fact, we invited the privates to join us as well—and published the report (which I believe you’ve had distributed to you) on diversity in medical school admissions, that was published by our office in November of 2000, which looked at ways that we could stem the tide of California losing its best minority students to other states.  And we had a series of programs that we initiated that, again, are detailed in the written material.  Those actually were reasonably successful.  We went from 63 URM students around 2000 to 113 these last three years; so back to where’d been in the early nineties.  But let me say that that still is not enough.  We have two or three other things that I think are quite important that are coming forward. 


And then something I’d like to say to the members of the Legislature who are here, who are very important.  You know that these have been very, very difficult budgetary times for California and for the University of California as a result.  You also will hear from material that we have presented, and others, that California is an under-trainer of physicians; we have fewer slots for positions than the other states; we’re far below the national average.  What we have begun to do at the University of California is to expand the training slots for our physicians, and then we’ll expand this to nursing and other health professionals that really need this.  We’ve done—and I would say the first of its kind in the country—a very innovative program (that Dr. Cruz was mentioning) that we launched at UC Irvine this past fall and that we have plans underway now to launch at our other schools; two to three years of startup time, but our other medical schools are looking forward to this.  What we want to do is to really train appropriately the number of physicians and nurses and other healthcare professionals that California needs and to train them, really, to be expert in meeting the compelling needs of the State of California.  These are detailed programs, which I’m happy to talk ad nauseam about them.  

But I guess the point I want to leave with those of you who I don’t know as well—I really have worked on this every day, essentially, for thirty years.  I’m flying out tonight to work on it tomorrow.  These programs are the best effort that we can put forth to really meet these needs in the future, and your support in helping us is really crucial for these things being successful.


I do have time for questions.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  Senator Ducheny says she’s got to leave, so I’m going to accommodate her.  Welcome, Senator Vincent, and thank you for joining us.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Just two thoughts.  One that kept occurring to me as everybody’s been talking is why do we have so few medical slots?  You all talked about the less than a hundred per class.  There’s obviously more than a hundred people in this state qualified to go to assorted medical schools.  Why is it that we have so limited?  And then, are you one of the ones that’s responsible for this report I’ve heard rumored that will tell me why, in addition to the statistics we heard earlier, why we need a medical school in Riverside?


DR. DRAKE:  Everything’s my fault, I’d say is the way . . . [Laughter.]


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Well, I hear there’s a good report coming out someplace that documents—and maybe this is part of the numbers—documents why we ought to have a medical school in the Inland Empire.


DR. DRAKE:  What I will say is two things.  One is that California under-trains physicians, and I’ll answer that question in just a moment.  And second, if we look at the places where California is most underserved and the areas where California’s likely to or projected to have the greatest population growth—the Central and South Valley and the Inland Empire; the two places where California’s the most underserved now and the most likely to have the greatest population growth (I don’t use the “S” word—school—in this circumstance)—I would say that increasing the medical training opportunities in those areas would address those problems.  One of the things that’s important about that is that people tend to stay close to where they train more than they leave.

SENATOR DUCHENY:  But that goes to the problem with the numbers we saw earlier.  Are we actually admitting foreign students to medical schools when we’re sending all these students out of state?  Or it’s just in the residency programs that we see it.

DR. DRAKE:  No, just residency programs because we have far more residency slots.  There are 70 institutions that sponsor residency training in California—far more residency slots than medical school graduates.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  And why is that?


DR. DRAKE:  The country has about a 50 percent surplus of medical school slots to medical school graduates, first, and the reasons for that. . . . actually, my trip to DC is to talk about some of those things.  That’s one thing, true.  The other thing is this:  It’s expensive to train medical students, and California was able to import medical students, all the medical doctors that it needed, throughout much of the twentieth century.  The demographics of the state have changed, the economics of medical practice have changed, and the ability not only to import people to California but to import them to the areas where California now needs physicians are things that are in question.  So, relying on importing physicians . . .

SENATOR DUCHENY:  That’s the point, is why aren’t we producing them?  We all know that the numbers, however you skew them—say somebody who grew up in Salinas—is more likely to go back to Salinas.  If you train a doctor from Fresno, they’re more likely to go back to Fresno than somebody is to move to Fresno from New York.  So, what is it about people from Fresno and Salinas that we can’t find them to train?


DR. DRAKE:  I think we could.  I think that more training opportunities in those sites would be, in fact, something that I’d personally recommend.


SENATOR DUCHENY:  Well, what’s happening is the kids from there are going to Harvard to go to school instead of going to UC, and once they get over there, they go to Massachusetts General instead of coming back to Salinas.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’re actually going to hear from Dr. Kathy Flores who is a physician out of the UCSF Center that’s in Fresno, so we’ll hear, hopefully.


Dr. Drake, I know you have a plane to catch, but let me just make sure . . .


DR. DRAKE:  I have about five-or-so more minutes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me make sure.  I know Assemblymember Dymally wants to ask a few questions.  Other members?  Any other members who would like to ask questions of Dr. Drake?


SENATOR DUCHENY:  I’ve got to go, but it disturbs me a lot because of what we did to help UC hospitals some few years ago with the additional DSH funding that we got for graduate medical school education.  We went through a whole nine yards’ thing to keep the UC hospitals, which, in the major cases, are showing the weakest numbers here.  Not your UCSF and theoretically not UCLA, although I’d be interested to see those numbers.  But, Davis, Irvine, and San Diego are, in fact, the county hospitals.  They are serving the Medi-Cal, and they’re big DSH hospitals in this state, and yet, those are the medical schools with the weakest representation of the folks who serve in the communities that we have these hospitals for and for whom we draw down those DSH funds and got the special funding for the medical schools precisely because they were serving those inner-city populations.


So, it’s sort of a distressing mixed message here that we draw down extra DSH money to keep those hospitals open for those medical school trainees and then we find out that either they’re not Californians that we’re paying for or that they’re going other places once we train them.

DR. DRAKE:  Yes.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  All right.  I want to thank Senator Ducheny for joining us.  She’s been involved in this for a long time.  I think she’s keenly engaged again.  I hope.


Assemblymembers Dymally, Horton, and then Senator Kuehl.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER DYMALLY:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.


Everyone here, including the two who left—with the exception of Senator Runner, who was not here—voted for ACR 139.  I dropped it in the hopper with the hope that folks back home would think that I’m doing something.  But Dr. Drake took it very seriously.  It’s the first time I have known that a resolution was taken seriously.  As a result of that, Madam Chair, of the eleven programs at Drew, ten have been accredited.  An eleventh program was the result of a chronic problem with Los Angeles County—inadequate staff.  When the team came in on orthopedics, the doctors were doing nursing work, the nurses were doing custodial work, and they cited the department, not the doctor, and that has been a reoccurring problem.  

And so, today I just want to let the Legislature know that Dr. Drake did in fact use the five medical schools to help Drew, and now he has a new proposal to create a CEO to manage both the hospital and school.  So, thank you very much, Doctor.


But let me ask one quick question here.  What are you doing about the enrollment problems?


DR. DRAKE:  Well, a couple of things, and I think that Senator Ducheny mentioned Irvine, San Diego, and Davis.  We are aware of these same numbers, and we really want to assist those institutions in doing a better job of attracting a diverse and excellent student body.  So, we started a program purposefully at UC Irvine this fall, the PRIME program, which you’ll hear about later, and there’s a PRIME program on the drawing board at Davis and at San Diego as well, and you’ll hear about those.  We’re really planning to work with those institutions to help them put together the kinds of packages that we know through history will attract the students that will contribute to their diversity and to also increase their excellence.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Just for clarification, though, the PRIME program doesn’t address the question of who gets admitted or how they get admitted.  It’s a program, a curriculum, within the UC Medical School that then trains those who enter and are admitted on how to be culturally competent and sensitive and understand the disparate health impacts in California.  Is that correct?


DR. DRAKE:  It is, with an asterisk.  What I say is that the programs are meant to do two things.  One, they really are meant to attract outstanding minority students because the programs are laced with the kinds of things that excite the students like we have here today.  I loved hearing the things that they are concerned about because I’ve spent thousands of hours with medical students and did try to be a good listener.  The things that those students are concerned about are the things that we need to address as an institution if we’re going to take these dedicated young people and bring them forth and let them practice the careers that they want.


So, PRIME is meant to do two things.  One is to be attractive to those students, and then, to prepare those students to be leaders in their communities, like Dr. Flores and Dr. Cruz and like others who you’ll see here before you, to be leaders in those communities in the future because one person can do a great deal but one person can’t do enough.  So, they’re meant to do those things together.

The last little thing for my deans who are sitting here—and we’ve had many discussions about these programs—they’re meant to help the institutions themselves broaden their view and to see that excellence and diversity really do work hand in hand to make the best possible institution.  And I will say, and I mean this very strongly, that the enthusiasm with which these programs have been met by the applicant pool and by the faculty are the kind of sustaining energy that ought to make them successful into the future.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Thank you, Dr. Drake.  I don’t know how much time you have left.


DR. DRAKE:  I’m okay.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Assemblymember Horton and then Senator Kuehl.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER HORTON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I’ll try to make it quick.


Dr. Drake, I just wanted to ask you about your views on the post-bac medical school program and its effectiveness.  You referenced the expense.  This might be one way to actually reduce the overall expense.  What are your thoughts on that, and what is the system doing in order to enhance it if it is effective?  


DR. DRAKE:  Well, you may remember, Assemblyman Horton, that I wrote the grant to the state that led to the five schools having these post-bac programs.

ASSEMBLYMEMBER HORTON:  Excellent work.


DR. DRAKE:  They’ve been incredibly effective.  Eighty-five-or-so percent of the students who come through the programs have been admitted to medical school.  Many have been admitted to our UC medical schools.  I still am the director of the one in San Francisco, even though I have my administrative job.  We’re very excited about this.  In fact, some of the foundations who are sitting in back of us are funding these.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER HORTON:  We also find that many of those students actually return to medically underserved communities.


DR. DRAKE:  Absolutely.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER HORTON:  It’s just a real problem we face here.


DR. DRAKE:  All of the students who are in the program come from disadvantaged backgrounds as a requirement.  I was going to say that many of the foundations who are here represented behind us are supporting those programs actively.


One of the problems that we’ve had, though, is that the state funding—which is what I wrote the grant for and which really helped cement these into the culture of the institutions—that state funding has been subject to cuts over time.  And when I say we’re having difficult budgetary years, these are a lot of the programs that we have to fight to defend.  They’re incredibly effective, and I believe they should go forward.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER HORTON:  Thank you, Doctor.  One last question, Madam Chair, if I may. 


A couple of years ago we changed the ratios between SP-1 and SP-2 to try to be indicative of other issues—or subjective issues that we should consider in the admittance process.  My question is, it was brought here in the form of a question about lowering the bar, when, in fact, I actually believe personally that we should actually raise the bar and make it more difficult to get into medical school.  But in order to raise the bar, we should include things such as cultural diversity and the ability to deal with cultural diversity, public relation skills and the ability to deal with that, the ability to socially adapt and to interface with their patients in these levels.  In doing that, we’re actually raising the bar for many individuals, and we’re actually making it more equitable for others. 


What are your thoughts about that?


DR. DRAKE:  I agree completely.  We’ve talked at UC about comprehensive admissions.  The admissions committee that I chaired at UCSF for seven years devoted about 18,000 hours to the admissions process.  We had 75 members on the admissions committee for 150 slots.  We looked in-depth at every aspect of every applicant’s life, and what we were looking for were human beings who would be outstanding clinicians and physicians and scientists.  


We were talking earlier about . . . 


ASSEMBLYMEMBER HORTON:  Dr. Drake, was that applied across the board to all students?


DR. DRAKE:  To all students, absolutely.


Assemblymember Cox spoke earlier about wanting to have the smartest person take care of him or his family, et cetera.  We all want the best and the most competent people, but we know that the ability of a person to be an outstanding physician is not measured by something as simple as a GPA or a test score.  There are other things that are much more important.


I’ll delay myself for one minute and ask a question to the audience.  If we were to ask ourselves, How many people here have been to a physician? everybody would raise their hand.  And if I said, How many people have had a good or a bad experience with a physician? everybody would raise their hand if they’ve had some good experiences and some bad experiences.  And if I said, How have those bad experiences correlated with that physician’s MCAT scores? there’s been no correlation.  It really has been the physician’s interpersonal skills, the ability to relate to the human beings that we’re taking care of, that’s very important.  So, that’s a critical aspect of our admissions process.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  I know Senator Kuehl has a question, but let me phrase two questions that I’m going to ask you to respond to after hers because I think it goes to the points made earlier.

You referenced the PRIME-LC program, and my question was going to be:  Have you seen with the PRIME-LC program on your campus—well, actually, it was at UC Irvine.  The PRIME-LC program at UC Irvine, what has the effect been on underrepresented students admitted to the regular class of the medical school?  My understanding is, PRIME-LC has resulted in a drop rather than an enhancement of the regular medical school curriculum for underrepresented minorities.  That’s one question.  I mean, what if that’s going to be the overall effect across the system?


And then secondly, on the post-bac program at Davis, how many of those students that have managed to make it through the post-bac program actually were admitted to the medical school at UC Davis?  I mean, that’s the idea of the post-bac program is to get them into the medical school.


So, that would be helpful.  I don’t know if Dean Pomeroy or yourself want to answer that.  I have a memo from the UC after the sunsetting date of what should have been the memorandum of understanding that talks about unintended consequences.  Might we be creating unintended consequences through the post-bac program and the PRIME-LC program as well?


Hold that.  I just don’t want to lose you because I know you’re going to leave at 3:30.


Senator Kuehl.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I’ve two questions.  One, is there a program for loan forgiveness for those practitioners who decide to engage their practice in the community?


DR. DRAKE:  There are a variety of programs—state, federal, and others—for loan forgiveness, yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But they’re not campus-based.


DR. DRAKE:  They’re not campus-based.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Is it UC money?  UC loans?


DR. DRAKE:  No.  These are programs with federal money mostly.  Other national organizations have money for this.  So, it’s not UC money per se.  These would be for the practice that one undertakes, and so, these are federal programs; that are longstanding federal programs, by the way.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But I believe Harvard and Stanford have them internalized within their institution.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Well, Harvard and Stanford have money to loan too.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I understand that.


SENATOR KUEHL:  I’m not familiar with whether there are financial aid packages that come directly through UC.


DR. DRAKE:  There are financial aid packages, but we would tend to decrease the amount of the loan that the students had before they left.  Any financial aid money that we use as an institution is to decrease the amount of money the students have to borrow.  We don’t have further money, then, that’s used in the loan forgiveness program from the University, but there are large, decades-old external programs.


SENATOR KUEHL:  And does decreasing that loan relate to the practice that they choose?  You know what my question is here, if you can just help me if I’m not framing the question correctly.  I guess my major question to you is I think the people of California have made it much more difficult for the public universities to have as diverse a student body as they had in the days when I went there—or after I went there, since there was a lot of discrimination; since I’m very old and I went there before we even had some good programs.  And I guess I want to know if you were to say three things to us that could be done by the University or with our help that would legally and effectively increase not only the admission but the acceptance rate and therefore the diversity of the student body in the medical schools in the UC system, what would they be?

DR. DRAKE:  So, three things.  One is that when I was the admissions dean competing with other schools around the country for the students that I wanted, outstanding programs and low fees allowed us to get the very best students, and that was particularly effective when we were admitting students who were from disadvantaged backgrounds.  That was an incredibly big advantage for the State of California.  A wonderful policy for the State of California to say, Gosh, we’re going to make it inexpensive for you to come and train here and things that we want you to do.  So, I think that’s very good.  

The converse is true as well, and that is, I was talking to one of our regents—one who’s now, actually, left the board—and I was saying that I was very disturbed at the incredible increase in professional fees that were meant to stem the tide of the cuts to the medical school funding that had happened over the last eighteen months and that we were working for years to bring students out to be able to serve in primary care and academic medicine in diverse communities but they were laden with such debt burden that now they couldn’t do that.  And she said, Well, they’re able to earn enough money to pay off that debt burden—and the truth is that they are—but they’re able to earn enough money to pay off that debt burden if they do the kinds of things that we don’t particularly need in the areas that don’t particularly need doctors.  

So, I would just say in general, the higher the debt burden, the more people, when they’re in their mid-thirties and thinking about their families, et cetera, are driven away from altruism and toward the practical realities of daily life in California.  So, I think that’s an incredibly important point.


SENATOR KUEHL:  That actually goes with my original question because there’s a couple of ways to handle that.  One is, the fees are lower, and the second is, debts are lower if you choose a certain aspect of practice.


DR. DRAKE:  Yes.


SENATOR KUEHL:  It doesn’t sound like we’re doing either.


DR. DRAKE:  I’d love for us to do that.  A controversy, I’d say.  I like the idea of lower debt and quality programs that attract people to practice.  I don’t want to say this is the wrong way, but loan forgiveness has a bit of a negative thing.  It’s like you have to do something.  What I’ve been disappointed by is that people, although they do it more than not. . . . the loan forgiveness programs work but not as many people as I would like stay in the place where they went for the loan forgiveness.  So, I’d like to have a mixed bag so that we could attract people and support them in those practices as well, and that’s really for the entire society to address.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  I have questions for you, but I want to make sure other members have an opportunity before you leave.  Assemblymember Liu?  Senator Runner?

Can you answer either of the questions I raised earlier regarding PRIME-LC having an unintended consequence and the post-bac program?


DR. DRAKE:  I’d say about the post-bac program first—and the dean from Davis can talk about specifics—but I will say that in our program, our clients are the students in that circumstance.  We have students who are disadvantaged, and the goal is to get those students into medical school.  We do the best we can to admit them to our schools, but our clients in this are the students.  The program is for the students.  So, we’re very successful in getting those students admitted to medical school.  That’s the first goal.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Through PRIME-LC.


DR. DRAKE:  No.  This is through the post-bac program.  So, they’re to get students admitted to medical school . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Anywhere.


DR. DRAKE:  Anywhere.  When they’re admitted, that’s a success.  That’s a disadvantaged person who’s gotten a chance, and we’re proud of that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  As long as we see a rising . . .

DR. DRAKE:  That’s always the idea.  


The PRIME-LC programs are extra years.  And so, there’s no reason that any student who is admitted to the program but not to the PRIME-LC program can’t in fact attend the school and go forward in the four-year program.  Plus, there are electives and other things that are created for PRIME-LC that are available to all the students.  This is only the first year.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  But we shouldn’t create the false impression that it’s actually increasing the number of underserved—or underrepresented minorities in our medical schools thus yet, at this point.


DR. DRAKE:  There are only eight students.  Five of them are underrepresented minorities in that particular cohort of eight, but we’re just starting.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s early.


Final question.  I’m going to ask you to come back on a very sensitive issue.  I’m going to come back and revisit that MOU.  All of the reports—I don’t know if they were every year and how they were delivered to the Legislature, if at all—but based on your understanding, has the MOU that sunsetted in 2002, did it achieve the goals that were outlined in the veto message by then-Governor Wilson?  Is it your understanding that the MOU ever got close to achieving increasing the number of primary care physicians in UC—56 percent of its grads by 1998 and 70 percent of its grads by 2001?


DR. DRAKE:  Let me say I don’t remember the 70 percent.  I can talk about the 56 percent.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s the problem.  The MOU then was drafted in a way that was contrary to the veto message.  I want an explanation of the gap there.


DR. DRAKE:  I think that the 70 percent was not in the MOU, but let me just say what I know.  First, I know that reports were delivered every year.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  To where?


DR. DRAKE:  To the Legislature.  I think to OSHPD.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  OSHPD is not the Legislature.


DR. DRAKE:  Well, let me say to OSHPD for one and the Legislature.  It’s before I was in the office, so I don’t know where they were sent, but I know that they were sent and had been being sent.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Hopefully, somebody can clarify that.  I don’t know if we have OSHPD here, but we do need to know where they were delivered in the Legislature.


DR. DRAKE:  We have copies of all seven.  That was, I know, a big effort to send those reports; I’ll say thousands and thousands of hours of time.  I’m understating that.  Thousands and thousands of hours of time were devoted to meeting the MOU.  There were dramatic changes in our programs across the board, and I’d be happy to talk with you at great detail about those.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, we’ll do that in a follow-up hearing, if any of my colleagues are interested in looking at that document which was the rationale for vetoing the Isenberg bill in ’93 that was premised upon a memorandum of understanding between OSHPD and the University of California.  The veto message by then-Governor Wilson in ’94 said that between ’94 and 2000, we will see these increases.  And there are reports that we don’t know whether or not they met those goals, but that will be the subject of a follow-up hearing.


DR. DRAKE:  OSHPD wrote us saying that we had satisfied the goals, I’ll say in August of 2002.  I have that letter, which I’ll send you, but I’ll also send you all the reports, and then I’m happy to talk about the MOU.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Well, I look forward to that because I think it’s really important to determine whether or not those promises were kept, because in the end, it really is the promise between the taxpayers of California and those who need healthcare, and I think that we’ve got a long way to go.

Thank you, Dr. Drake.  I appreciate it.  We’ll welcome you back when we do a follow-up.


DR. DRAKE:  Okay, thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  With that, we’re over half an hour behind, and I appreciate my colleagues being patient.  I think the next panel that is before us—I’m going to hold off on the questions that could have been raised with those before us, but let me find my place on the agenda.  Let me invite Panel Number 2—the others that are a part of Panel Number 2 that Dr. Drake was a part of.  This is the “Discussion of Current UC Medical School Admissions Policy and Practices in Relation to Workforce Needs.”  I want to welcome the critical medical school representatives.  We have Dr. Pomeroy, dean of the UC Davis School of Medicine; newly appointed.  We welcome you in our region.  We hear good things.  As well as Dr. Thomas Cesario, vice chancellor of Human Health Sciences, dean at the UC Irvine School of Medicine.  And Dr. David Bailey, who is the deputy vice chancellor for Health Sciences and deputy dean at UC San Diego School of Medicine.  Dr. Flores, director, UCSF.  Good to see you.  As well as Dr. John Matsui, Biology Scholars Program at UC Berkeley.


We’ll begin with Dr. Pomeroy.  Welcome.


DR. CLAIRE POMEROY:  Thank you very much.  Good afternoon.

My name is Claire Pomeroy.  I’m the vice chancellor for Human Health Sciences and the dean of the School of Medicine at UC Davis.  It’s been an exciting first three weeks.


I want to first start by emphasizing a point that this hearing started with, and that is that our healthcare system faces major challenges right now and that it is not meeting the needs of the citizens of California.  One of my major goals is to ensure that UC Davis School of Medicine plays a major role in reducing health disparities and ensuring equal access to healthcare for all Californians.  And the only way we’re going to do this is if we have diversity in medical education.  We not only should but we must graduate well-trained physicians and, to pick up on the point that was made earlier, more well-trained physicians from UC who reflect the diverse population of our state.


Now, my commitment to educating students from disadvantaged backgrounds is very much a personal one.  Prior to enrolling in medical school, I spent my teenage years in a series of foster homes.  Those weren’t easy years, but I learned a lot about other people and a lot about myself.  And while I don’t think that my experience was as difficult as that faced by many of our students who may have had to deal with multiple hardships or racial or ethnic discrimination, what I do know is that I was able to attend a public college and medical school only because I had access to scholarships and loans and because there were people in the educational system who gave me a chance and who guided me along the way.


So, I do feel, truly, a personal responsibility to assure that students from underrepresented groups, from disadvantaged backgrounds, have the opportunity to succeed at UC Davis.  Historically at UC Davis—I’ve learned that 20 to 25 percent of our students self-identify as disadvantaged.  But we have a lot of work to do.  We have to further increase the opportunities and enhance the diversity of our class.

Now, I, in my written testimony, have put forth to you the following four main areas which I think reflect our commitment to putting this diversity goal into action.  First, we have to improve the pipeline so that students from underrepresented groups are excited about and prepared for careers so that they can envision that this is meant for them.  And this does go to K-12.  This goes to reaching down into the elementary schools, into the high school outreach, and the post-bac programs that were being talked about.  

There was a specific question about the post-bac programs at UC Davis, so I’m going to just mention the numbers here for you.  Over the past nine years, 170 students completed the UC Davis post-bac program.  Of those, 119 successfully entered medical school; not necessarily at UC Davis but a medical school.  And that included 22 African Americans, 52 Mexican American/Chicano, 13 other Hispanic, and 3 Native Americans.  I’m particularly pleased to say that this year’s medical school class at UC Davis includes 19 of the 93 who participated in a   post-bac program somewhere across the state.  So, 19 of our current 93; not necessarily from the UC Davis post-bac program but a post-bac program in California.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Just so that my colleagues understand the purpose of the post-bac, these are students that might not normally be admitted to a medical school, should they have applied immediately between undergrad and medical school, and go through the post-bac program that then enhances their ability to get into medical school.


DR. POMEROY:  Right.  They might just need some extra class or some extra training or even extra encouragement to envision that they could show up.


The second point I wanted to make as a goal is that we’re highlighting diverse health professional role models both in the community and in the school, and I think this is critical.  I have already made a priority to develop a more diverse faculty, and I think this is a real need in the UC schools and probably at virtually every academic center.  I’ve appointed an assistant dean for Faculty Development and Diversity, formed a Diversity Advisory Council, and we have specific written policies to ensure that search committees identify diverse applicant pools.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me just make sure I understand this.  In the last three weeks you’ve been there, you’ve . . . 


DR. POMEROY:  I’m sorry.  I was executive associate dean for the past two years, so this is some of the stuff that I’ve done in the two years.  I’m not that fast.  [Laughter.]


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Pretty darn good.


DR. POMEROY:  I’ve also created a new fund to enhance the diversity of our school of medicine.  That’s a one-time $500,000 investment and a $1 million endowment to support faculty who enhance our diversity mission.  

And we’re also working on programs that make our medical center, our hospitals, and our clinics more welcoming to diverse populations, because if we don’t set that tone in our hospitals and clinics, then our students and our faculty won’t have that experience during their training. 


We need to do more.  One example is our interpreting service and our tele-interpreting.  I think they’re very exciting.  And there are others.


The third point I would make is that we are working to improve our admissions process.  I would just like to point out that we have, I believe, made some significant changes over the past two years to make our process more inclusive and transparent.  It was up to that point that I would say you could label it ad hoc.  About two years ago we created a new admissions policy committee.  This is a diverse group that has faculty, residents, students, and alumni on the policy committee, and they are the ones that review these submissions.  Their ranking is not just on grades.  I think this is a very important point because I do believe that what makes a good doctor—well, a good medical student and then a good doctor—has to do with other things, like life experiences, leadership, service, community involvement, letters of recommendation.  All of those go into our ranking.


One of the specific questions that you asked us to address, and I think is a good one, is every interview team includes a student as well as a faculty representative now.  There are student representatives on the final admissions committees that review these.  The revisit program is also very important because what you heard was that we admit these students but then they don’t necessarily end up coming to our school.  Sometimes, just a little extra intervention can make them believe that UC Davis would be welcoming.  And so, our Community Advisory Board and our Leadership Council have a Revisit Day where we get the students to come back, especially the underrepresented students, to just kind of encourage them to come to UC Davis.


But the most important point—or one of the most important points that I would like to make is that a recent national survey of underrepresented students, that was published in the New England Journal in 2005, indicated that the cost of attending medical school is the number one reason that underrepresented students don’t apply to medical school.

So, we’re currently working to address our limitations in scholarship funds.  Our limitations in scholarship funds put us at a disadvantage compared to some of the private schools—even some of my colleagues at this table who have older, more established UC medical schools.  We have to be able to offer scholarships to our underrepresented students so that we can get them to come to our school.


Finally—fourth point—we’re working to ensure that all our students appreciate and value diversity.  Our student-run clinics have already been mentioned, but that is one of the primary attractants to UC Davis.  Those student-run clinics need the support of this community and this Legislature, and we have submitted an application for the PRIME rural program.


I hope that all of these things together will move us in the right direction.  More needs to be done.  I’m committed to working on it, and I welcome the opportunity to work with all of you to achieve these goals.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, Dr. Pomeroy.


Let me ask my colleagues if there are any questions for Dr. Pomeroy.  I have a couple of questions since it’s my medical school in my district and my community, which I believe we’re going to have some good news tomorrow.  


I want to take a couple of moments because we certainly hear a difference from students, and we’ve heard a little bit from the students here today.  I was an undergrad at UC Davis when Bakke was challenged.  I worked with Dr. Flores.  When he was at the medical school, I was an undergrad.  I was the only non-pre-med person who actually worked in the Clinica Tepati in Sacramento.  The Imani Clinic, of course, when I was on the city council, in the neighborhood I grew up in, in Oak Park, a very poor community.  I will tell you, it’s frustrating because every year, unfortunately, they face budget cuts.


I personally sought help from the medical center.  You appropriately asked the Legislature to intervene and help fund the PRIME-LC programs, but it’s difficult as we see declining budgets.  We’re trying to protect Medi-Cal and other programs.  If it’s a priority for the UC system—and this is really a question for Dr. Drake—then it ought to be a priority even when the Legislature and local government doesn’t fund it, particularly when we look at huge, huge bonuses in salaries.  We ought to reward you all for great jobs, but there are places to cut other than these community clinics, and that’s just going to be my recommendation.  I was a member of the Community Advisory Board before I was even elected to city council, so I know what the CAB does.  

But let me just suggest that we the Legislature are going to be looking to the institutional commitment within the University of California system to cut other of their programs if we the Legislature can’t fund it.  If it’s a priority and we can’t fund it—and we will fight to do so if we see the numbers increasing.  I don’t care if it’s a poor white person who grew up in Rio Linda.  If they serve in an  underserved. . . . they’re likely to do that.  To me it’s not just race and ethnicity, although there’s some cultural competencies with language and experience that really heavily tilted primarily on these . . . [portion of dialogue missing] . . . and you have a desire to go back and serve.

But let me just say that we’re going to ask for a far greater commitment.  We’ve heard wonderful things about you, and I’m very excited about your role, but we are going to also say if it’s important enough, then the UCs are going to have to find the money in their budget or suffer potential consequences of cutting the budget and you guys decide what’s a priority with a decreasing revenue stream, as we have to do every year.


So, I thank you for what you’re doing.  You’re doing great things.  I think we’re off to a good start.  I probably have some questions that my staff asked about, but I’m going to hold off.  I am going to ask you to come back as we look at the MOU and the outcome of that whole experience because that proves to me that we may have a greater problem if, indeed, those numbers weren’t reached based on that premise, which would make a case further for probably others in the Legislature long after I’m gone to address this problem.

Again, thank you so much.  I think we’re fortunate to have you on board now.


Dr. Thomas Cesario is the next speaker.  Welcome.


DR. THOMAS CESARIO:  Thank you, Chair Ortiz, respective members of the Senate and Assembly.  I’m very pleased to have an opportunity to be here this afternoon because we, like you, recognize this is an important issue that must be addressed.

We know, for example, that in our communities with a higher standard of living, the number of physicians per patient is 1 in 300—one physician for every 300 patients—whereas, in our underserved neighborhoods, like our Hispanic neighborhoods, the number of physicians per patient is one physician per 3,000.  And as you’ll see in a little bit, that is one of the figures that led us to develop, along with Vice President Drake, the PRIME-LC program.


For many years, we have struggled to develop programs to try and encourage individuals from underserved segments of our community to enter medical school and to go on and serve their communities from which they came.  We have, for example, summer outreach programs that go into the high schools.  We have a Camp Med program where we take a number of students from high schools in underserved areas and bring them to a camp in Lake Arrowhead, have them associate with our medical students for a weekend, and try to encourage them to seek careers in medicine.


We have three post-baccalaureate programs.  One for individuals who have applied and whose application has not been successful, to try to retain them.  We have a second one for individuals who have never applied but who we hope to be able to strengthen their application.  And a third which really is an outreach conference that allows individuals with less extensive experience to improve their application.


In addition to that, we have our faculty serve on a number of organizations to help individuals from underrepresented minority groups and encourage them not only to apply to medical school but to seek counsel on how to do it in a way that advantages them.  Once students are accepted, we have additional programs to try to ensure that they successfully complete their curriculum.  We have a pre-entry program that exposes them to anatomy and biochemistry before they actually enter the curriculum.


We have several clinics that serve our underserved populations.  In our area, the largest underserved population is by far the Hispanic communities.  We have very few African Americans in the catchment area of the UCI Medical Center.  So, we have several clinics to serve that population in which we encourage our students to participate in.


And finally, we have regular lectures on diversity in medicine.


But with all of these programs, we have not met our own expectations of producing physicians to serve the communities that we consider underserved.  It was with this in mind that our senior associate dean, Dr. Alberto Manetta, conceived of the idea of PRIME.  Along with Vice President Drake, the two of them developed this program which has been well-received by our colleagues across the system.  The purpose of PRIME was not only to get more minority applicants to apply but, most importantly, was to get more physicians culturally sensitive with the expectation that if they were culturally sensitive, they would be more apt to serve those communities, because a culturally sensitive person would have no advantage in going into a community like Beverly Hills, but they certainly would have an advantage to going to some of the communities in Los Angeles.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Or in the Central Valley.


DR. CESARIO:  Or the Central Valley.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  There’s a lot of rural poverty as well.


DR. CESARIO:  That program, as it is now, is oriented to our Hispanic population because, as I mentioned, that is the population that we serve.  It begins with a six-week exposure period in Mexico to sensitize them to some of the backgrounds from which these individuals have come.  It allows them to enter the curriculum, but unlike the rest of our medical students, these students will spend as much time as possible in our Hispanic-speaking clinics.  So, they will finish, having had a far greater exposure to the Hispanic community than the average medical student.  In addition, they will complete an additional year that will give them a master’s degree in Hispanic Cultural Sensitivity Studies.  

I’m happy to tell you that the first eight students to date have not only met our expectations, they have exceeded them.  Five of them are underrepresented minorities.  The rest have had long experience in serving these communities.  They have provided an ideal role model to encourage others to seek this program, and I would say, as of today, the applications for this year are considerably more, and we hope that we will be able to build on this.  We undertook this program without permanent funding because we were so committed to it.  We are very appreciative that it’s in the Governor’s budget.  We hope that it will be seen by the Legislature as an item worth continuing.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Assemblymember Liu, are you on the budget subcommittee?  Okay.  Senator Ducheny and Senator Scott chair two of the key budget subcommittees in our house, so hopefully they’re listening.


DR. CESARIO:  As we are in the process of refining our own PRIME program, we are looking now at how to expand it—how to extend it into our residency program—because our concern is, if they only graduate and they do not go on into the residency and continue the cultural sensitivity for which they were initially recruited, that they will be less apt to go on into the communities to serve those with the greatest need.  

SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s the test.


DR. CESARIO:  So, we are continuing to do that.


I’d like to address one other issue, and that is, Mr. Salgado mentioned that it was a rumor among medical students that Irvine only accepted students from minority communities if they were accepted at other medical schools.  I don’t know where Mr. Salgado is, but I would really appreciate the opportunity to correct that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Go ahead and correct it now, and perhaps you and Mr. Salgado can talk outside of this.  But go ahead and present.


DR. CESARIO:  Because that is, in fact, not our policy.  In fact, it’s quite the opposite.  We are anxious to have a greater percentage of underrepresented minorities in our classes and our student population.  We work within the requirements of the federal guidelines and constantly within the fact that we are regularly surveyed and scrutinized to ensure that we comply with those policies.

So, we recognize the problem ahead of us.  We recognize that we do want to better serve the population of California, and we do want to ensure that our class size looks closer to represent those segments of the community here which are not well-represented.  We are anxious for the opportunity to work with the Legislature to improve the numbers of individuals going to those communities.

So, we thank you for allowing us this opportunity to work with you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, thank you for coming here.  I know it’s a bit of a challenge, and we’ve gone over.  I’ll see if my colleagues have questions of the University of California at Irvine Medical School regarding your program since the three that are here are alleged to not have the greatest numbers.  But I appreciate you coming in and being prepared to answer whatever questions may arise.  I’ll hold off on mine until the end.


Our next speaker is Dr. David Bailey, deputy vice chancellor for Health Sciences, and deputy dean at UC San Diego School of Medicine.  Welcome.


DR. DAVID BAILEY:  Thank you very much, Senator Ortiz, for convening this hearing, and my thanks to the other Senators and Assemblymembers.


Since the passage of Proposition 209 in 1996, UCSD School of Medicine has had a very, very serious challenge in enhancing diversity in the student body.  Prior to 1996, we had as high as 18 percent—which still is not good, in my view—18 percent underrepresented minorities in our school of medicine.  And then we plummeted to about 9 to 10 percent, where we stayed between 2000 and 2003.  However, as you will note in the written statement that I submitted, in the fall of 2004, we improved a little bit:  we came up to 13 percent of underrepresented minorities.  In fact, the numbers show that in the fall of 2004, we admitted seven who were Hispanic/Latino, four who were black, four multiracial, and one American Indian.


While we show some improvement, we are far, far away from the ideal of mirroring the diversity of the population of the State of California.  And why?  That’s the big question:  Why?  We feel that with the constraints of the current law and the resources we have which translate, really, to financial aid for students and the number of slots, that we really are challenged to improve diversity.


So, what have we done?  Well, we developed a variety of programs, and those are listed in the written statement I have prepared for you.  I will just highlight a few of them in the interest of time.


One of the most recent ones that we’ve developed is something called Healing the Community because we realize that we must increase the pipeline.  This is a program that gets out into the community, to middle and high school students.  It invites the students and their parents to come to the campus, where they tour our medical school; they tour our health facilities.  And this is a longitudinal experience.  In fact, we have developed photo ID cards.  We are developing a Certificate of Completion for when they finish the program at the end of the year.  We are beginning to engage them in projects.  It’s a continual process that currently involves several hundred middle and high school students; many of whom are from disadvantaged backgrounds.


We have programs that involve our medical students interacting with middle and high school students.  We have something called “Doc for a Day.”  We invite middle and high school students to tag along with a medical student and see what medical school is like up close and personal through the eyes of a medical student.  They can hear all they want from the faculty and from attending physicians, but when they hear a medical student talk about it, they turn on.


We have Doctors Ought to Care, and that puts medical students out in high schools and middle schools to talk about health issues, and this is mostly to schools in disadvantaged areas.

Then we have sought and received federal funding for certain programs, and this means that we are monitored for those programs.  One is our Hispanic Center of Excellence which does include a laboratory in which middle through community college students can receive training in laboratory skills that might prepare them for pre-medical studies.


We also have a federally funded, an NIH funded, Excellence in Partnerships for Community Outreach, Research on Health Disparities, and Training—the acronym for which is EXPORT—which includes outreach activities for middle and high school students.

As others, we do have a post-baccalaureate program, and that has been successful.


One of our more innovative programs was started with another federal grant, an NIH grant, and this is to address the problem of students who did not get in to UCSD School of Medicine.  They had been interviewed, they had done everything—they had taken their MCATs—but they did not get in.  We went to the NIH and we created something called the Conditional Acceptance Program, which says, We will, with this funding, give you a year of training.  We will put you through five advanced science courses, and if you maintain a grade point average of 3.5, then you’re guaranteed admission.  You do not need to retake the MCAT test.  You do not need to be interviewed.  You will be admitted.  And thus far, we’re batting 80 percent of those people who are doing it.  The numbers, admittedly, are small, but we’re getting there, and we’re beginning to see improvement.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Allow me to interrupt you.  When you say 80 percent, those admitted then . . .


DR. BAILEY:  Absolutely.  End up in the school.  Not just accepted but in the UCSD School of Medicine.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And graduate?


DR. BAILEY:  Yes, they do.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And how does that 80 percent rate compare to the general admits without the NIH program?


DR. BAILEY:  I can only look at those who did not go into that program, and that would be much lower.  It would range about 30 percent to 40 percent, I would say.  I’m limiting the numbers to underrepresented minorities who have gone through the program.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, let me make sure I understand.  Underrepresented minorities that are admitted to your medical school without the NIH program graduate at 35 to 40 percent?


DR. BAILEY:  No.  I’m sorry if I . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Do you measure the 80 percent success rate as those that are admitted and graduate?

DR. BAILEY:  No, no.  The 80 percent of the students that we have admitted thus far to the Conditional Acceptance Program who have completed that year have satisfied the requirement of maintaining the GPA of 3.5, have been admitted to the UCSD School of Medicine, and are in good academic standing.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Of those underrepresented minority students that are admitted outside of the conditional admit program, what’s the percentage that achieved that first year success, as you measure it?


DR. BAILEY:  Those that are admitted, the majority do complete the course and do get through to graduation—those that are admitted.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m just trying to compare that 80 percent with those who don’t come in through that program, what the difference is.


DR. BAILEY:  Well, the others have not applied previously.  They’re individuals who are applying for the first time.  They do not do as well.  So, we’re comparing two different categories of people.  We’re comparing people in the Conditional Acceptance Program who have applied before who were not admitted, and now they’re taking additional course work, and we’re comparing them with individuals who are applying for the first time.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Go ahead and continue.


DR. BAILEY:  We have other programs that are actually geared at the medical school curriculum because we believe that if we can make the curriculum more attractive, we will draw individuals who will be more likely, through these courses, to participate in serving the underserved.  And these include, for example, our highly popular course in medical Spanish, which many of our students take.  We also have a free clinic.  In fact, I would say of all the experiences in medical school, the free clinic experience has been the most popular.  And we have our free clinics in the inner-city area.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Dr. Bailey, my staff reminds me that we have a very long next panel, so I’m going to ask if you could summarize and complete.


DR. BAILEY:  Indeed I will.  


We sponsor students to attend conferences.  In fact, we’re hosting the Latino Medical Association Conference for over 500 people in April.  

I would like to close with our PRIME-HD program, our Program in Medical Education for Health Disparities.  We have a planning grant written.  We are working with Vice President Drake on submitting that.  And we also are creating a variant of that called MD-Plus, which would be in the regular medical school curriculum for four years.  It would not be a five-year program.  This would focus on training individuals in the area of health disparities.  The stated mission would be:  “to train leaders to eliminate health disparities.”

Thank you very much.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me thank you and apologize for the delay.  Let me also close with, one, I think it’s very important that you’re here represented before this committee.  I’d like to ask you to consider coming back when we look more closely at the decision between the veto message and the sunset of what should have been an understanding, an MOU, and ask you to come back and address that issue.

Let me also urge you all to go beyond the programs that are presented today.  As much as I know you care about these programs in front of you, there’s a gap on where we need to get to, and you all know that.  We’re going to hold you accountable, as we should.  But thank you for that.


Unless there are questions from my colleagues, we’ll hear the last two witnesses.  And I’m going to ask you to try to abbreviate your presentation.  I apologize.


But welcome.


DR. KATHY FLORES:  Thank you.  My name is Kathy Flores.  I’m a practicing family physician in Fresno, California.  I’m a graduate of University of California, Davis School of Medicine, during the Bakke era, which was a very challenging time, to say the least.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And was the volunteer director at the Clinica Tepati.


DR. FLORES:  Clinica Tepati, yes.


At any rate, I chose Davis for the same reason that the young woman who spoke earlier mentioned, and that’s because of primary care and my desire to return to my community, which was Fresno.  I’m a farm worker by birth, and I wanted to work with the farm worker communities.


The topic that I was to talk on I’ve shared in my handout.  I’m actually going to digress because what I really want to address is the frustration of sitting and listening to much of the testimony and recognizing that regardless of the fact that all of us have good hearts and want to do good, the realities are that our numbers are still really low, and how are we going to get past that?  The comment that Dr. Cruz made earlier I fully support, which is that we need to look at a varied group of criteria for entrance in schools of medicine.  Although we are aspiring towards that, the reality is, we’re not there yet, and I don’t know how long it’s going to take for us to get there.


So, what I wanted to focus on is why we developed the program in Fresno, which is called the Health Professions Preparatory Academy.  The reason for the program is that I was very frustrated, as a practicing family physician and as a faculty member for the School of Medicine, that, even though I worked with students at our local university, we don’t have a UC in the Central Valley.  Well, that’s not true.  We now have UC Merced, but that’s north of Fresno.  We don’t have a UC campus in Fresno.  Living in an agricultural area where most of our students that we were focusing on were farm workers, it’s very difficult for our families to let their kids go outside of the valley.  And so, Fresno State was their option, and regardless of the fact that schools of medicine tell us that they do accept equally students from state universities as opposed to UCs or private schools, the realities, at least that we see—and I don’t know the statistics—but the realities that we see are that our CSU students were not being accepted at the rate that we thought they should be.  


So, we started a program at Fresno State with the Health Careers Opportunity Program, which I know that several of the other campuses have, to increase the acceptance rate.  But what we learned right away was that that was much too late in the pipeline.  And so, we have gone down, as has been discussed earlier, into the middle school and high school.  There’s a disconnect that we talk about frequently when we talk about pipeline.  We talk a lot about the need to expose our kids to what they can be so that they can really believe that they can be that.  The problem is that you can put the carrot out, but if you don’t add some substance to that carrot and give these kids the academic excellence that they need to be able to succeed, they’re not going to be competitive.  And so, you have kids in the college system who are really trying hard.  Somebody mentioned earlier that some people work harder than others.  That’s not true.  Some of our kids that are failing work their tails off.  When they talked about bottoms before, well, these kids are doing double-bottoming work.  They really, really try.  But because of the foundation, their academic foundation wasn’t there, and because they don’t have the support from their families—not because the families don’t care, but because the families don’t know because they haven’t had the exposure—these kids are just many steps behind.


Being frustrated with all of that, we decided to build this pipeline that started in the middle school but focused on academic excellence.  And so, what we’ve done is we’ve put our dollars. . . . and I’m very grateful to UCSF because it’s a school of medicine who has been cut just as many of the other schools, but they have continued to fund our program, albeit 10 percent cuts every year.  I appreciate that that’s the way it is, but they’ve continued to fund us to maintain this program at middle school and high school to assure that these kids are successful academically.  It’s also allowed us the leverage to then get the funds from other sources, including the federal government, because as you all know, if you don’t have the money from your main campus, then you’re not going to be able to leverage federal dollars.  And we’ve also been very grateful, of course, to the foundations, as was mentioned earlier, because without their funding, we also would not have continued.


But at any rate, the program focuses on tutoring, mentoring, putting kids in advanced placement courses, and supporting the heck out of them so that they can succeed.

We also work with the parents.  We have regular parent meetings.  We were told that parents won’t come.  That’s a fallacy.  The majority of our students—and by the way, I know most all of you out in the audience don’t have my handout—but if you look at the demographics of our program, the demographics reflect our community, and that’s predominantly—92 percent—minority, and the majority of those students are disadvantaged.  Those parents do come to meetings regularly, and they want to learn.  They want to learn how to support their kids.  And so, with that program, what we have seen so far—and it’s a short program so far; only two classes have graduated from high school—but in a district where we have about a 47 or 48 percent dropout rate, we have had a 100 percent graduation rate from high school of these two cohorts, and of those cohorts, we’ve had 100 percent of our kids being accepted into four-year universities.


I’m looking at my partner here.  Eighty-seven percent, I believe, of these kids are. . . . no, 82 percent have in their sophomore year of college right now—because we continue to track them—have health services of some sort as their major.  And so, you know, time will tell.  We have another couple of years before they graduate from college, but my hope is that we get beyond that we’re not competitive, that we’re not smart enough, that we can’t do it.  The reality is that we can do it; we just haven’t been given the tools.  This program is giving the tools to these kids and their parents so that they can get past that.


And the other big piece is that these kids are coming from their local communities.  So, these are Latinos.  These are Southeast Asian Hmong, Laotian, Cambodian.  These are African American students.  These are white students who live in the ghettos and the barrio.  These kids know their neighborhoods.  When these kids come back, they’re going to know how to take care of the people that they’ve left behind.  And we don’t let them forget it.  We have continual curriculum throughout the academy that focuses them on service learning.  We put them out in the community to work with the populations that they’ve grown up in so that when they leave, they’ll remember who they are and why they need to come back.


So, with that, I think I’ve hit it all.  All I wanted to say is that I also want to thank UC San Francisco School of Medicine because they have given us conditional acceptance.  They’ve committed to two students from the high school per year that are conditionally accepted into the School of Medicine upon completion of a 3.5 GPA and MCAT scores, which a lot of people challenge because they say, Well, if they get that, they’re going to get into medical school.  The reality is, that isn’t happening.  And what they’ve also done is instead of two every year—at least for the first two cohorts—they’ve taken five each year.  So, we have ten kids who have been accepted—early conditional acceptance—into the School of Medicine in San Francisco if they pass all the. . . . you know, jump over the hoops.

If these kids don’t go on to medical school, I don’t feel really bad because what it’s done for these kids is it’s given them a sense of belief in themselves, and it’s really inspired their parents, their families, and the community to believe that these kids can succeed.  It’s raised the expectation of disadvantaged kids in our community.  And I’m really proud of our families because we’ve seen parents who are now returning to high school to get their GED—or not to high school, but returning to get GEDs.  We’re seeing parents who are asking us about going to college themselves—community college—because they see what their kids can do.

So, with that, again, I thank you, Senator Ortiz, for inviting us and for giving us this opportunity to discuss some really tough issues.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m going to intervene right now because I think a point needs to be made and stressed.  And I wish Senator Cox was here because I think he probably would agree with me on this one point.  

We talk about long-term solutions and short-term solutions, and we all know that the challenge you face is about the end of that opportunity for these students.  They’ve come from very poor communities.  They’ve come from households in which if they have two parents, neither are likely to have graduated from high school, let alone gone to college.  They are students who have overcome a language disability—not disability—a had-to-learn second language.

This is the most profound and long-term challenge we face, and we’ve done a good job in the recent period of time in the Legislature.  It probably is a function of a lot of us who come from those schools.  We know that these children come from the poorest of public schools, or, if they’re like me, I spent part of my K-6 in one of the poorest of public schools that continues to be in the Oak Park Area—Oakridge Elementary School—or St. Patrick’s, which is a thriving, wealthy Catholic school.


This really goes to the core of one of the things that I’ve cared about and others—Assemblymember Liu and Senator Vincent—have been a part of; you know, when these students maneuver these systems of neglect in communities of poverty and schools that have failed them and not captured them to prepare them and they get a 2.0.  As a result of legislation, I did the CalGrant Scholarship.  That is that final hurdle to get into a four-year or a two-year institution.  So, we get them to that point, and we pray they’ll stay in and they’ll gradate.  Then we pray they’ll go on to grad school.  But this program is a program that looks at that long-term. . . . and I remember the HCOP program.  I certainly remember the _____ program, and I remember the Early Outreach Partnership Program.  All of those programs.

But I’ll tell you, Senator Alarcón, who is not here today, and Senator Scott, what we did last year in both houses—and Assembly members as well—we fought and we rejected the cuts in those very outreach programs.  It’s appalling that the programs that we know that actually try to equalize at a very short rate these students’ opportunities to at least get the foot in the door are the ones that are at greatest risk of being cut.


But I also say to the UC, when they’re cut by the Legislature—and we don’t want to cut them, but we have a declining base of revenue and structural problems of creating new revenue, particularly in these priority areas—please, ask yourself whether there’s something else you can cut in your institutions.  And I’ll tell you, we don’t want to be the only ones that have to be saving these programs.  I ask you to ask yourselves deep in your hearts whether you can cut something else.  In fact, you should be enhancing these programs.


And there’s another little issue that’s coming up that I’m going to be looking to the UC about in terms of a trend in the UC and CSU, unfortunately, as it relates to outreach and CalGrant scholarship programs and potentially some issues there, but that’s an undergrad issue that I will address in another setting.


It’s so great to see Dr. Flores here because she’s telling the story.  When you have great programs like this in the Central Valley poor and the Hmong-Mien community—which is a huge issue in Fresno as well as Sacramento that doesn’t get a lot of attention—there are opportunities for bipartisan support in a not-so-liberal area part of the state that goes to low-performing schools and a lack of access to healthcare.  Hopefully, that’s the bridge that can take your model program and replicate it, and more importantly, UC Davis, UC Irvine, and UC San Diego, look at the UC San Francisco model.  We know that there are programs that work, and they ought to be replicated; they ought to be incorporated; they ought to be enhanced.  We want to look at best practices.


You know what?  The foundations need to come up because they’re the ones that are going to tell us a lot of what the best practices are and why they’re stepping in where government doesn’t do a great job, including all of us here, and why they’re funding so many of these things.  It’s because we’ve neglected in government what they’re doing through the foundation funding.


No?  You’d better tell us otherwise; otherwise, we’re in trouble.


So, I’ll get off my soap box and just say thank you for showing us what can be done.  


Let me ask the final—sorry if I’ve taken some of your thunder out—our final speaker is John Matsui, who’s a Ph.D., Biology Scholars Program director, UC Berkeley.


Welcome.


DR. JOHN MATSUI:  Thank you very much, Senator Ortiz and committee members.


If you could take a look at your packet, the two charts that I’m going to be referring to should be in that packet.


I’m here to do two things.  One is to tell you about a program at UC Berkeley that is funded by soft money, by a couple of foundations.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Foundations.  Not UC money.


DR. MATSUI:  No, not UC money; although, UC has matched in terms of space and salaries a portion of. 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, let’s hope they’ll enhance it after today.


DR. MATSUI:  Yes, let’s hope so.


So, I’m going to tell you about this program that I started thirteen years ago that helps undergraduates from underserved communities get to medical school and actually go back to those communities.  That’s one.  And the second thing, I want to ask for your help; the type of help that maybe only the State Legislature can provide.  


In 1992, I set up a program called the Biology Scholars Program in the Department of Molecular and Cell Biology.  It’s funded by the Howard Hughes Medical Institute—soft money, once again—and over those years, I’ve worked with over twelve hundred students, all of whom were Berkeley students and most of whom want to become doctors.  It’s a diversity program that is majority female and also majority minority.  The goal is to increase the diversity of Berkeley undergraduates who succeed in biology majors—some of the toughest majors at Berkeley—and also related careers.  Its design is nothing extraordinary.  If I were to give you the list of the things that we do, it’s very similar to Dr. Flores’s list:  academic support, mentoring, counseling; all those sorts of things.  I won’t go through the list.  

However, it’s how we’ve implemented those components that have made a difference, and I’m sure Dr. Flores has a handle on the importance of implementation.  The devil isn’t necessarily in the details; it’s in the implementation and who’s doing it.  Who’s doing it, what philosophy they have around student success, and the extent to which individuals who are in the program really understand the backgrounds and the needs and the aspirations of the students.  And not only in terms of implementation but also the results; the results that we’ve gotten as a result of the success of our students who have gone on to do wonderful things.  That’s what separates us from the diversity work that’s being done across the country.


So, over the last thirteen years there’ve been about 800 BSP (Biology Scholars Program) graduates.  Sixty percent have been underrepresented ethnic minorities, 70 percent have been women, and 80 percent have come from economically disadvantaged backgrounds and are the first in their family to go to college.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Great statistics.


DR. MATSUI:  Yes.  And this is at UC Berkeley—a very unforgiving environment in terms of the academic expectation.


Presently, there are about 460 BSP members, and the question is:  Just how successful have these students been?  In comparison with majority students not in my program at Berkeley, minority BSP members have graduated with biology degrees in equivalent percentages and with equivalent final UC GPAs.  In other words, they exit competitively eligible.  So, this is not about remediation.  This is not about hand-holding.  This is about academic excellence, which they attain given the right circumstances.  And this is in spite of entering Berkeley with lower high school GPAs than the majority students.  In spite of entering UC Berkeley with lower SATs than majority students.  


Basically, the takeaway message is that students, such as my students, can attain parity without any sort of special considerations.  Special considerations in the sense that they are treated no differently.  The expectations are high, but the understanding is great about where our students are coming from.  That’s the special consideration.


In 2004, 75 percent of the students who applied to medical school from BSP actually got into medical school.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Seventy-five percent.


DR. MATSUI:  Seventy-five percent, and this beats the 50 percent acceptance rate of Berkeley students in general.  And they come from backgrounds that you would predict that they wouldn’t have that sort of success at Berkeley and also in getting into medical school.


So, how do I select these students?  There’s no GPA or SAT cutoff or minimum.  A lot of programs take a look at students with a 3.0 or above, with maybe an SAT of 1200 or above.  We accept these students because they’re Berkeley students, but they have to have an interest in biology-related careers.  They have to have an interest in that.  And they also have to have a demonstrated commitment to serve the underserved, and we do that through interview.  We actually talk with them.  We actually drill down in terms of our discussion about exactly what they learned when they volunteered—which communities? for how long did they spend in those situations?—because Berkeley students are smart.  They know about résumé glitter.  They know how to pad their résumé.  And so, we’re looking for the real deal here.


The first priority is low-income and first generation college students.  That’s our first priority.  Second priority—and when you speak about outreach programs—we’re looking at students who have participated in Summer Bridge, EAOP, Upward Bound, and MESA students.  We also look for community college transfers and also referrals by faculty, staff, and other students in the program.


So, the result is, when we compare BSP students to their classmates in their science courses, they tend to be poorer.  They come from economically disadvantaged backgrounds.  They need to work more.  Some of them hold down a couple or three jobs.  They come to Berkeley with lower scores, fewer AP courses, and in fact, they’re less well-prepared to succeed; but nonetheless, because of their interaction with the program, they’ve been very, very successful.  In other words, they don’t fit the profile of the traditional Berkeley student.  They don’t look like, they don’t come from backgrounds like, the traditional Berkeley student. 

However, Berkeley is a very traditional place.  In fact, many of the resources at Berkeley are set up to serve the traditional student.  If you take a look at the first diagram—and I apologize to the audience for them not having that—but what this is, the first diagram, is sort of a flow chart that I’ve put together.  It’s a graphic summary of the information and advice that the university gives to pre-med students.  If you take a look at the amount of information, the amount of detail in that flow chart, everything from when to take courses, when to find volunteer opportunities, when to seek out advice, when to take the MCAT, when to do all these sorts of things, it is daunting.  In fact, there’s too much to discuss here in detail, so what I’ll do is I’ll point out some general points.


The traditional pathway—this traditional pre-med pathway—has all the elements, all the messages that say, You need to be like this or else.  Talk to any pre-med student, talk to any medical school student, they will say that there’s strong pressure to conform to this traditional pathway.  And this is the death knell, in fact, for many of the nontraditional students with whom I work.  For many students, especially first generation students, these guidelines become rules.  In other words, You’ve got to do it this way or else.  And these rules are in terms of when to take courses.  Some of my students come into the university not ready, not calculus-ready.  They come into the university not ready to take chemistry their first semester, but they do anyway because of the traditional pathway.  What winds up happening is that in the first two years—in the first two years—students suffer a lot of academic damage, and it takes post-bac programs, it takes upper division work, if at all, to try and undo a lot of the damage that was done in the first two years.

Also, this pressure to graduate in four years.  For some of these students this is impossible because of the need to work, because of their non-readiness to take courses according to this very traditional pattern; all these sorts of things.


And I will move along here.


So, there’s very little flex in all of this.  Further, if you take a look at the bottom half of that diagram, there’s a lot to do there, and the question is:  How do you get guidance to do all these things, especially if you’re a first generation college-goer, and all of this within the first four years, or within four years?  My take on the situation is that to use a traditional approach with students who don’t fit the traditional profile and expect them to succeed, that’s insanity.  That is pure insanity.  

And so, what we’ve done in the Biology Scholars Program, we’ve provided them with an alternative pathway.  That is to say, we’ve put our paths where people walk.  To this pathway—and you’ve already heard a little bit about the success of students—the validity or the value of this approach was recognized most recently in November of last year by the Gordon and Betty Moore Foundation.  They have given us $5.6 million over five years to increase the number of my students who are going to be going on to medical school.  And this was done in conjunction with Dr. Drake at the office of the president, with two doctors at the Children’s Hospital in Oakland, and also with the support of my dean and my colleagues.  

What we will basically do is we will use the grant to do what’s on page 2 of the handout.  And again, there’s too much detail there, but we want to do a pre-medical pathway but this time BSP-style.  Notice that it’s a five-year program.  Many of my students take five years to graduate, absolutely.  There’s no prescribed rule about when they are to take their MCATs.  Much of what is in the bottom half of that first handout is structured into the pathway.  We provide guidance, mentoring, advising, and what we do is we provide financial support to eliminate a lot of the financial barriers that students face.  For example, we pay for MCAT review courses.  We also pay for their first ten applications to medical school.  We will pay for their travel.  That’s why the $5.6 million.  About 40 percent of that money is going to support students in that way.

And so, the final note:  We want to disseminate this program.  In fact, about 20 percent of the Moore grant is designed to provide a dissemination component through research and publications, through site visits—and I invite you, Senator Ortiz, to come and see the program and to meet the students—and also through an annual conference.  Again, I invite you and your colleagues.  On October 7th and 8th at UC Berkeley, we’re going to be convening about 250 representatives who are interested in diversifying the sciences and health sciences—faculty, staff, and administrators—to talk about exactly the job that’s in front of us all.


So, I’ll conclude with that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, thank you for another uplifting example of what’s being done well in the UC system.  Let me ask you to please make sure that we get the information to share not only with the members of my Health Committee and others that were participants today, but certainly the ethnic caucuses, I think, would be very interested in observing your programs, and based on our calendars, hopefully we’ll be able to attend.  


It just seems so commonsense to those of us who have seen from a perspective of not understanding this process that this does indeed make sense, and just something as striking as the MCAT prep course—again, a major obstacle.  You know, there are some families that understand they pay for their children to take a course for the SAT.  They pay for their children to take a course for the LSAT or the MCAT.  I mean, it was unheard of for us, certainly when I was an undergrad and applying to law school.  Fortunately, we had a program called CLEO (Council on Legal Educational Opportunity).  But those barriers are very real for not only our students but their families.  I mean, I used to hide what my loan-to-grant ratio was because my mother would have freaked if she knew.  But we come out of school with much more financial aid burden.  

These are real, tangible obstacles that you have said, and we’re going to address them.  More importantly, you’ve institutionalized them in the culture of your very highly regarded. . . . UC Berkeley is one of the most difficult for any student to get into.  So, thank you for changing the culture and being a part of that.  And again, gentle reminders to others in the room in which their objective numbers may not be meeting those goals:  there are lessons to be learned in this model.


DR. MATSUI:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you very much.  


I know that a couple of you have flown here from other sites.  You can drive at least—a long drive for you, but you can drive nonetheless—but let me thank you for taking time away from your day.  I didn’t ask as many questions because we’re over an hour behind on the schedule.  I hope that you will sit around and listen to the private medical schools that have a story that really, unfortunately, makes most of our UC medical schools not look so great.  Maybe you can pick up tips on how they do that well, but more importantly on the work of the foundations that are looking at where the gap is in our public institutions and their policies and why they are investing, but what their expectation is, quite frankly.  Their funding is really a function of saying, Okay, we will fund this for a certain period of time.  However, our expectation is that we are going to change the institutions and the culture and that they will be incorporated internally in these institutions, as Berkeley has done.  But more importantly, that money goes away and they cannot continue to fund what government is cutting or has not done.  You know, UC has to at some point incorporate these programs.

With that, let me thank you all, and let me invite the other speakers to come forward.  It’s been very helpful to me and others.  Thank you.


As we move into the third panel, we will learn as a comparison how other institutions have reached the workforce shortage—please come forward; I know I’ve delayed your time and hope many of you don’t have flights—and what guidance these examples might offer for the UC situation.


Panel 3 is:  “Goal and Strategies for Diversity and Meeting Healthcare Needs in California From Other Institutional and Community Perspectives.”  We have not Ruth Holton, but rather, Saba Brelvi, who is a program director for Diversity in the Health Professions for The Wellness Foundation.  We also have John Yuasa, Bridges to Health Project, from the Greenlining Institute.  We have Ronald Garcia, Ph.D., assistant dean for Minority Affairs, director of the Center of Excellence and Health Careers Opportunity Program at Stanford.  Welcome.  As well as Erin Quinn, Ph.D., dean of Admissions, Keck School of Medicine, University of Southern California.  And Beverly Guidry, Ph.D., vice president of Student Affairs, Western University of Health Sciences.  And we have Anmol Mahal—welcome—who is a physician as well as the chair of the board of trustees of the California Medical Association.  You guys drag me in from time to time to do a presentation to your physicians, so welcome.

Let me ask Saba Brelvi to begin.  If you have handouts, my staff will make sure they get to other members.  Thank you.


Welcome.


MS. SABA BRELVI:  Thank you very much.  Good afternoon.  My name is Saba Brelvi.  I am a program director at The California Wellness Foundation, and I oversee our grant-making and diversifying the healthcare workforce in California.


I appreciate the opportunity to speak about this important issue and for your leadership in bringing attention to it.  In the interest of time, I will very briefly summarize my written comments, which should be circulated, and then talk about what I believe to be the most salient issues and the most effective practices of some of our grantees.


As you probably know, the mission of The California Wellness Foundation is:  “to improve the health of the people of California by making grants for health promotion, wellness, education, and disease prevention.”  In 2001, about three years ago, the foundation’s board decided to make increasing diversity in the healthcare workforce one of our priority areas.  Over the past three years, the foundation has distributed upwards of $10 million in grants that address the issue of diversity in the health professions.

I should note that I’m very pleased and honored to see that a number of our former and current grantees are here today, including many of the people sitting here:  the UC Davis student clinics, the post-baccalaureate programs at UCSF, and some of the medical and dentistry schools as well.


I’m aware that we have talked at length about the importance of health workforce diversity, but I believe it stands for repeating that health providers of color are much more likely than their peers to provide healthcare to the underserved.  Patients treated by physicians of the same racial and ethnic group report higher satisfaction and, to some degree—and I think this is particularly important—better health outcomes than those seen by professionals of other races.  

Although we’ve talked a lot about the diversity challenges, I think the silver lining in this discussion is that there is increased publicity about the importance of health workforce diversity and recognition of diversity in the health professions not only as a legitimate public health issue, but potentially even a public health crisis.  There is a growing body of evidence that supports workforce diversity.  There is an emerging community of nonprofit health advocacy groups, including the Greenlining Institute, that are beginning to engage in this work.  And I think there is a community of individuals and organizations that are identifying themselves as organizations committed to health workforce diversity in a way that there wasn’t maybe five or ten years ago.  


I would assert that our work in diversity is affected largely by two factors:  First, that the field of health workforce diversity is only emerging as a field in and of itself; and second, that as you acknowledge, there are very few funding sources directed specifically towards health workforce diversity in the state.  These two factors provide our guiding principles:  First, that we work to increase awareness of the issue of health workforce diversity, that we see the field, that we support advocacy efforts, and at the same time, that we fund broadly, recognizing that there are not that many other organizations and places that a number of these pipeline programs look for financial support.


The foundation’s funding also goes beyond supporting diversity in medicine—nursing and dentistry—to supporting allied health professionals as well, as we recognize that these positions often serve as the very first rung of a health career ladder.


An important aspect of working in diversity in the health professions is building the case for the importance of diversity and examining the barriers to diversity.  We’ve provided about a million dollars in research regarding various aspects of workforce diversity, and the written testimony that you received should have a list of our research grants.  One of particular interest potentially is some work that’s being done at Stanford by Donald Barr in the Sociology Department, looking at the difference in retention rates among white and Asian and African American and Latino pre-med students at Stanford and Berkeley.  The research is far from being completed, but it looks at the number of students who identify when they first come into a university as pre-med students and the likelihood four years later that that student will still be a pre-med student and what it is that influences that, including, potentially, the pre-medical curriculum, the pedagogy of the coursework—including organic chemistry—and the supportive services that are available for students.


The foundation also provides grants to help build the diversity of the future healthcare workforce.  Thus far we’ve provided $8 million in grants to pipeline programs that address academic preparedness.  It’s either commonly agreed or certainly agreed among those who fund these kinds of programs that the most effective programs, particularly for those students who are high risk or are first generation college or face the kinds of areas that we talk about, that programs that do well with these students include the kinds of supportive services that have been talked about, including working to involve parents, case management, and even mental health and psychosocial support for these students who may be working a job or two jobs, may be experiencing violence in their communities and their schools, may not be attending school regularly.  And so, the programs that speak particularly to the needs of those students tend to have the best results in addition to the more traditional components of math and science, education and enrichment and career exploration.


Another cluster of grants that addresses health professions diversity is grants that work on not just recruitment, but retention and supporting and graduating students of color who are already in the health professions schools, because it is of limited value to have students who get into health professions  schools if they aren’t able to graduate.  Most of our grantees in this category are community colleges or four-year universities and include a number of Cal State schools.  These grantees work with students from the community college level all the way through doctoral programs, allowing them access, providing stipends so they can do science research over the summer (which often helps their resume and certainly helps their application), providing MCAT prep courses, as had been discussed, enabling students to become more academically competitive, and helping them to graduate.  At their best, it is these kinds of programs based at universities and colleges that not only provide the direct student service, but serve as catalysts in the institution for raising the issue of institutional commitment to diversity.  

One of our grantees, for example, that works in nursing started out with a small grant from us, looking at providing academic support to nursing students from Latino backgrounds.  The program itself began to raise issues among the university faculty of, you know, We don’t have very many Latino faculty, and are we able to really do justice to these students if we don’t have any faculty that look like them?  What is our institutional commitment to faculty diversity, and are we willing, as an institution, to rearrange course schedules to be able to serve Latino students who may be working day jobs?  And are we able to offer night classes?  It sort of raises the issue of institutional commitment in a way that in a vacuum or out of context doesn’t get brought up.

I would say that the provision of scholarships is also a particularly strategic component of our funding, as the cost of attending health professions schools becomes prohibitively expensive for low- and middle-income students.  Although we don’t focus on loan repayment, we do have a grant that does provide loan repayment for physicians of color in the Los Angeles area who work at community clinics, in recognition of the fact that it’s becoming more and more expensive for students when they graduate from med school and their residency programs, and that the likelihood that they are able to choose of their own volition to work at a community clinic is decreasing.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, you do have a loan repayment program designed . . . 


MS. BRELVI:  We have . . . I’m sorry to interrupt.  Go ahead.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No, please, reiterate and clarify.


MS. BRELVI:  We have a grant to an organization that is called Uncommon Good.  It’s based down in Southern California.  Primarily, they started out actually doing loan repayment for law students who graduated from law school and worked in legal clinics and public interest law.  They have started working with physicians, and they work through the L.A. Community Clinic Consortium and partner with these community clinics and say, We will pay part of the loan repayment as long as these physicians of color are committed to working in these communities.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Wonderful.  How much money have you funded in that program thus far?


MS. BRELVI:  A hundred thousand dollars over a couple of years, and it’s a fairly new grant.  They are fairly new to medicine, I think, as well.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  We look forward to replicating that elsewhere.


MS. BRELVI:  Absolutely.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Please continue.


MS. BRELVI:  A third area of our funding is building, recognizing, and encouraging leaders, working on increasing diversity in the health professions.  During the past three years we’ve funded about a million dollars in leadership programs.  One of the highlights is our Champions of Health Professions Diversity Award which recognizes individuals who have, over the course of their careers, made significant strides towards diversifying California’s healthcare workforce.  We honor three champions each year, and we’ve had two rounds of the Champions Award.  Both Kathy Flores, who spoke earlier, and Bob Montoya, who’s here as well—or was here earlier—are recipients of the award.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think I presented the Bob Montoya award.


MS. BRELVI:  Yes.


And finally, in addition to our grant-making, we annually convene our grantees and others working in the field of diversity in the health professions.  Our conferences have several objectives:  to recognize the Champions awards, to allow individuals working in the field the opportunity to network, share promising practices, problem solve, and learn more about the current state of health workforce diversity, recognizing that there are not many outlets or opportunities for people working in this field to come together to talk about their work.


We are committed to continuing to fund in health workforce diversity.  We anticipate that over the next several years we will spend at least $3 million a year annually in this area, which for us is substantial, but we also recognize it’s a small drop in the bucket of what needs to be done to diversify the health workforce in the state.

So, once again, thank you for your leadership, and we look forward to working with you to address this issue.  And I’d be happy to answer whatever questions you have.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m going to throw in a couple of questions.  I want to make sure we get through all the witnesses.


I asked my staff at the last minute to go onto the websites—we have Dr. Bailey here and others and hopefully the representatives from UC—just to get a sense of how much money has come from the foundation world to do this pipeline development and diversity, and this is just off the website.  My understanding is that Wellness thus far, in roughly less than nine years, since you’ve been granting—I think that’s the timeframe, as of 2003, so I don’t even have the last year and a half or so—has awarded roughly $432 million in granting in eight programs, one of which is diversity in the health professions workforce.  

Do you know what your total appropriation of funding in this area is, whether it’s greater than that amount?

MS. BRELVI:  To the UC system?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No, in general, just to develop pipeline diversity in the health fields.  


MS. BRELVI:  How much we fund per year?  Is that what you mean?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No.  How much have you funded since the inception or the beginning of granting?


MS. BRELVI:  We have about $10½ million in the last three years.  So, in 2001—this might have been when you stepped out—we started making grants specifically towards health workforce diversity, and we’ve done . . . [portion of dialogue missing] . . . a little more than 10 million in that time period.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, in roughly four years about 10 million.


MS. BRELVI:  Yes—three to three-and-a-half years.  It is quite likely that we made a number of grants before that period as well, but because they weren’t categorized that way and conceptualized that way, it’s hard to retroactively determine that this was specifically to address health workforce diversity as opposed to cultural competency, say.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It would be interesting if we tallied all of the UC money and compared it, whether it would meet or exceed that, and that’s coupled with the California Endowment.  I neglected to introduce Paul Hernandez who was here earlier.  I had hoped to have, obviously, Gary Yates from Wellness as well as Bob Ross from the Endowment here to tell the story and tell my colleagues what it is that you all are doing versus what we’re not doing. 

But my understanding is—just a quick calculation on the cultural competency awards and the California Endowment—they’ve granted about 99 grants at roughly $34 million.  That doesn’t include other smaller grants.  And then the workforce diversity, about 69 grants totaling $48.3 million.  Now, I know their endowment was a bit larger, and they probably maneuvered a little easier in the stock market, where you all took a hit.  I just think both Wellness and the Endowment have done a great job and will continue to do a great job.


Any advice for the UC as to what their role is and should be before you cut off the spigot?


MS. BRELVI:  Sure.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Or whether or not you will.


MS. BRELVI:  That’s a big question.  The only things that I could add, I think, to what has been said is that there certainly needs to be ongoing support of the kinds of middle school and high school pipeline programs that exist.  I do think it’s worth noting that those programs are doing a really good job with what it is that they are tasked with, which is getting students to the door of the UC schools.  Although we continue to fund pipeline programs because they need to keep doing that work, they’re effective at doing their work.  And so, I don’t think there is a dearth of students getting to the door of UC that prevents them from potentially having the kind of diversity that they would like to have.  

I think it is an issue of looking at admissions and of student retention.  I think retention is often overlooked as a really important component.  It’s not for lack of getting students in the door at the UC schools as it’s keeping them there and graduating them and enabling them, I think, to go on and provide the kind of healthcare that they would like to provide.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for your presentation.  Let me go ahead and make sure we get the other speakers in.  


I think our next speaker is John Yuasa from the Greenlining Institute that is now getting involved in health access.  


Welcome.


MR. JOHN YUASA:  Thank you very much, Senator.  It gives me great pleasure to appear here this afternoon.  You have my written testimony, so I’m going to just kind of highlight and also bring up a couple of points that I heard other people talk about earlier that I’d like to discuss.


As you know, the Greenlining Institute’s a multiethnic public policy and advocacy organization.  We try to empower communities of color and other disadvantaged groups in economic and leadership development.  We became involved in health some three years ago, and we’re looking at economic development in health organizations.  But through that, because we’ve been a civil rights organization, we’ve been involved in looking at diversity in the health professions.


We also have had a long history of working with the University of California in their diversity issues.  We had a two-year pilot project with the office of the president basically to look at their faculty, their administrative staff, their subcontracting to minority firms, and also the establishment of the UC Merced campus.  I think you will see later on from some of my remarks why we are taking this position that I will be talking about.


At the end of the two years, we were completely frustrated with the University in terms of seeing any kind of serious commitment to these issues.  And I think in terms of talking about the medical schools, that’s part of the problem.  It’s much bigger than the medical schools.  We think that the University in general has a big problem here with this issue.


Let me just talk a little bit about something that was said a little earlier about feeling welcome and the friendliness of a school.  People have talked a lot, and certainly we need to do work on that, about the students and how we can better prepare them, get them into medical school, support programs, and all those other kinds of things.  We believe, and our studies have shown, that a lot of this, we think, is due to what the administrative staff and the faculty look like.  We’ve been doing studies on that.


You might be interested to know, in the last ten years, they have what’s called “senior management” which is the highest level, and the deans of the medical schools all fall in that level.  In that time there’s been some turnover, some increase in staff, and they have not increased it by one minority appointment.  It currently stands at, I think, fourteen appointments, and they’re all of a Caucasian race.


So, we look at that aspect and we say, you know, if you really want to make this place so welcome and friendly and you want to have the kind of programs and the other kinds of things that we’ve all talked about this afternoon, you’ve got to  have some real commitment at the top, and that means the deans and the chancellors and folks like that.  We think it means the president of the University. 


We have requested the president of the University to meet with us.  He wrote me back and said he would like me to meet with Dr. Michael Drake.  We don’t feel that that’s an appropriate response.  We feel that if they’re really serious, the president should be willing to meet with us.  So, we have turned down his request to meet with Dr. Drake and have again asked the president to meet with us.  That’s how we see it.


You talked earlier about the money and the cutbacks and what could be done.  In terms of that, I’d just like to point out that in their salary ranges for the deans of the medical schools for San Diego, Davis, and UCLA, those salary ranges are from $243,000 to $585,000 a year.  I believe that’s more than the Governor makes, and I think it’s comparable to what the President of the United States makes whose cabinet seems to be more diverse than the UC medical schools.  According to our data, the UC deans at San Francisco and Irvine are in the salary range of $259,000 to $414,000.  So, we think it’s very appropriate to tie those salaries to some real improvement and diversity, and we would recommend that.


So, I think with that, maybe I’ll just close.  I’ll be open to any questions, but that’s some of the thrust of what the Greenlining Institute would like to see.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Wonderful.  Well, thank you, John, for your presentation.  We are in an era in which one scrutinizes public salaries relative to public institutions, and it’s one that ought to be raised.  I won’t resolve it in my time that we’re here because we can do little to anything to mandate the UC, fortunately or unfortunately.  I mean, I think it was designed in our Constitution for a reason.  The regents are the place to go to set that policy, but I think opening it up and illustrating it, especially when we’re looking at all these cuts and it becomes very painful.  You know, we’re criticized for not funding outreach programs.  We can’t, even if we want to, get a two-thirds budget passed to maintain and enhance and expand these programs, and then we see the cuts at the UC level, where they don’t cut other places.  

So, that’s my cautionary advice is before you cut other programs and blame us for not funding the outreach programs or expanding these programs, think twice when we look at those salaries.  Unfortunately.  But I appreciate it, and thank you so much.

MR. YUASA:  Just one thing.  We have actually requested for the regents to meet with us too.  

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  Let’s hope that they listen.  There may be some friendly allies on that board, and maybe we can encourage them to facilitate that.


MR. YUASA:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Let me now ask Mr. Garcia, who is a Ph.D., assistant dean for Minority Affairs at Stanford University, the Center for Excellence and Health Careers Opportunity Program.


Welcome.


DR. RONALD GARCIA:  Thank you.  Thank you for the invitation to present this afternoon.  It was a surprise to me.  I’m very pleased to be here because I’m here with all my colleagues who’ve been in this field for a long time.  I don’t get to see them that much.  I’ve never been referred to as one of the “privates.”  It reminds me of some corny book title.


But any rate, I do feel comfortable here.  I’m a fifth generation Californian.  My father was a labor union organizer in Ventura County.  He died four years ago today, so it’s a really nice thing for me to be here because I had a steady diet of social justice throughout my entire life.  It was no surprise that I pursued this path, and I would have pursued that whether I’d gone to a private school or a public school.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  He’s probably proud of you at this moment as he sees  you here.


DR. GARCIA:  I’m very pleased to be here.


I’m going to go through a couple of these slides rather quickly.  This one I’m not even going to go through.  I just wanted to point out that Stanford, over the last four years, had had a 21 percent enrollment of underrepresented minorities, and then I’m going to move on to that.  I wanted to give you a sense of the schools that we draw from undergraduate sites.


We have a class size of 86.  We have 51 schools that are represented there.  I just pulled out the California schools that we accepted in the most recent class.  I’m very pleased to see a couple of Cal State schools as well as private schools.  Our biggest producer, of course, is Stanford at 15 students.  I think we had a total of 12 students from the UC system.  Most came from UCLA at six, and there were two underrepresented minorities from UCLA.  Four from Berkeley, but there were no underrepresented minorities.  And two came from Davis with one underrepresented minority.  Our main producers—and I think of our feeder schools—are Berkeley, UCLA, Harvard, and Stanford.  Usually Stanford’s on top, and the other three kind of move around from year to year.


Unfortunately, Mr. Cox is not here.  I really wanted to talk about this review of the application a little bit because Stanford is a research-intensive school.  I can’t stand up here and say to you our goal is to get people into primary care.  It’s not.  We look at the leaders and we’d like to think we are training individuals to pursue careers in academic medicine, in policy, and in research.  In that way, though, I’ve always thought that that’s how we complement the whole state in terms of who’s trained to do various things.  Just having said that, Roger Peeks, our grad, is currently the medical director of the Drew Hospital.  I’m glad he’s still there.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Tough times, but yes.


DR. GARCIA:  It is a very tough time there, but we’ve had a number of people who’ve really chosen outstanding careers of service in terms of the State of California.


I thought I’d just highlight a couple of things because one way to look at what I’m going to say is we really look for people who kind of walk their life out loud.  If you’re going to tell us about you’re interested in research and scholar activities, what has been your track record?  What has been your independence of thought?  What kind of productivity have you done?  We’re looking at leadership/role model.  What kind of legacy have you left with community activities?  What evidence do we have about originality and creativity?

I went over those quickly because I really want to go to the last one which I think is really a key point here for today, and that is our emphasis on understanding the educational context of achievement.  The word that we use to describe this is called “distance traveled.”  I have a separate slide for that because we kind of talked about this a couple of times.  There was talk of raising a bar, lowering a bar.  Stanford does not have a bar in terms of a cutoff, whether it’s GPA or the MCAT score.  

I talked to Gabriel Garcia, our director of admissions, who is a colleague along with Fernando Mendoza, in putting all of this work together, and he tells me that over the last four or five years, the lowest GPA and MCAT score has never been attained by. . . . entering in has never come from a minority person.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me just repeat that.  So, the lowest GPA . . .


DR. GARCIA:  And MCAT score in a Stanford entering class has never been a minority person in the last . . .


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, is that every year the lowest MCAT scores?


DR. GARCIA:  Well, he’s only been director of admissions for about five years, but that’s something that he has tracked.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Has never come from a non-white applicant or ethnic minority group.

DR. GARCIA:  No.  The lowest GPA and MCAT score has never come from a minority person, a minority candidate.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Right.  Okay, so by implication, it’s come from a . . . ?


DR. GARCIA:  Exactly.


So, the theme here is, really, how we get to that.  It think it has to do with this slide on distance traveled.  And this is something that we really emphasize in terms of the admissions committee, as well as the leadership from our director of admissions, as well as our work out of the Center of Excellence and the Health Careers Opportunity Program.  It’s really key to interpret the scholastic record by taking into account parental income—and these are on forms that we use.  I mean, this is not just talk here.  We actually score these.  These are very much a part of our entire process:  parent educational level, any college level work, their occupation.  We’re trying to get a sense of role models, availability of information, not just what to take but the experience of the environment of higher education for first generation folks.


We look at the pre-college education in terms of the schools that they went to because a term that I’ve not heard a lot today, but I think is true and we’ve been talking about, is the concept of educational disparities in addition to healthcare disparities.  These educational disparities where we see individuals coming from, whether that’s rural or inner-city, are lower numbers of AP courses that are available, insufficient labs, things of that sort, and you can’t lay that on the student.  That’s a system, that’s institutional, that’s where they wound up going to school, and if their scores wind up being a little bit lower, it’s not an intelligence thing, it’s not a capacity, it’s not an ability; it’s an experiential thing of the path that they took and the schools that they attended.


Hours of work while attending college is huge.  I mean, it’s not uncommon for. . . . this is not news to any of my colleagues out here as we look at these individuals who work twenty hours . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You’re absolutely right, and it’s what many of us all went through in undergrad.  All of these profiles are the message that my colleagues are afraid to talk about:  programs that go to the core of lack of opportunity.  You keep race out of it or ethnicity out of it, and they go to these factors.  This is it.  

I guess my question to the UC is:  Why can’t we use these very same criteria when they look at admissions into medical schools?  I don’t see one variable here or one factor that says ethnicity or race.

Please continue.


DR. GARCIA:  Exactly.


The cultural barriers in terms of language, attitudes, beliefs—many of those things are really pivotal in terms of a person’s experience, in terms of their expectation by the school, within the family, who gets to go to school, who’s expected, who is in all the roles that are defined culturally, geographic location in terms of resources that are available, prior experiences with racism and prejudice in terms of choices that they’re going to pursue, and the impact of stereotype threat, which is huge.  Dr. Claude Steele at Stanford has done many studies in terms of interpreting standardized tests for minority students, and I rarely hear that talked about in terms of these discussions.  I think that’s really huge where he has really documented a deficit in score for minority students on standardized tests.  

I just want to say that I’ve been doing this for twenty-plus years, and I have never, ever heard at an admissions committee where someone says, This is a to-die-for student.  Look at that MCAT and GPA.  It’s never that.  I mean, it is totally about the background, the culture, their path, do they fit in, where are they going, can they contribute?  It’s not about GPA, and it’s not about MCAT.

It’s one thing to get students to come in—and I’ll talk about the pipeline in a little bit—but I wanted to talk about the most immediate part, and that’s the admissions committee and things to take into account.  I think if we wait twenty years for our pipeline, we might still be at the same spot; so I wanted to spend some time on that point.  But once students get to the school, I think what’s also really crucial is how does the school sort of honor, celebrate, accept, say this is a place that we can advance your training?  We do that at Stanford through our curriculum.  We have our Scholarly Concentrations where students select an area that they want to pursue in-depth.  We have the Community Service Public Scholars where students have awards in scholarships to go out into the community.  We provide leadership training.  These are tracks that students at Stanford can take to really pursue their interest in community work.  We have courses in cultural competence.  We focus not only on medical students but on residents training.  I think that point was already made.  A Spanish class and a Mandarin course, which is something that oftentimes an Asian language course is not readily available, plus clinical experiences.

The applicant pool, I have just four things that are listed there.  I’m not going to go into great detail about the pipeline.  Many people have talked about the pipeline already, but I will say that the schools that we have selected in East San Jose, just the challenges there:  Alum Rock Elementary School District has gone through three superintendents in the four years that we have been there.  So, these are schools that are in crisis.  Our medical magnet school, Andrew Hill High School, I just recently presented on their behalf.  They were about to be closed and considered going to a charter school, but they are going to continue.  But students who come in, they also need to, I think, have access to leadership training opportunities.  For them to just come in to the school and sort of make it on their own without nurturance, without providing, and then say, We expect you to be a leader; just go to class and become a leader, it doesn’t work that way.  So, they have to have role models.  They have to have experiences.  They have to have opportunities to expand those skills.  

And lastly, the SUMMA Conference, which has been going on for ten years, has really risen to another level.  We host approximately 550 minority and disadvantaged students at Stanford each February, and I think it’s now almost a standard that we always expect at least 500 students, and we’ve expanded it to high school students to advisors to move forward.


I’ll go quickly through my recommendations, and probably my first one is to understand the context of achievement in the medical school selection process.  I think that it’s not about raising bars up and down, but understanding the context in which these students came forward and did their work.


I believe in pipeline programs.  I believe in the community college effort.  The post-bac programs that have been going on have been very beneficial.  I was really surprised to hear that those might not be continued.  I see them as extremely essential.


I think the importance of climate of diversity is absolutely huge.  We have five minority deans at Stanford:  chair of the Faculty Senate, chief of staff at Stanford Hospital, chair of the LCME accreditation.  I mean, you want somebody who’s going to do a good job there chairing that effort.  So, there is a tremendous presence of diversity when a kid walks on board to come to Stanford.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask you to wrap up.  I just realized we have three more speakers rather than two.  You have the misfortune of being at the end of the day, which is always a problem, but let me ask you to wrap up.


DR. GARCIA:  Okay.  I think I really just had that one additional point, and that is to invest in the curriculum to prepare the students.  We use the word “cultural competence,” and it’s used frequently, but I think we also need to be reminded of linguistic competence.  That’s another area.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Absolutely.  And let me thank you for your programs as well as what seems to be commonsense.  I guess my challenge is how do we get those who react viscerally to any notion of a different approach than GPA and MCAT and presume that it’s equated to lowering the bar?  That, really, is the function of the polarization in our society.  If there could at least be, I think, the acknowledgement that poverty and coming from a community in which you had inferior schools and in which neither parent was college educated, and/or you learned a second language, and/or your family didn’t have the resources or the wealth to understand even how to fill out an application to undergrad, and you didn’t have college educated discussions at the dinner table, to understand that given all those factors, there are still students who overcome that and not only are competent and as successful, but add some greater value to society in the health professions field that fills a void that we’ve neglected, and that’s the connection that we have not made.  

I’ll say it again:  Many of these factors fall profoundly on race and ethnicity.  But they’re not exclusive.  A poor community’s increase in poverty of non-ethnic minorities are a factor that ought to be acknowledged and recognized.  It’s just that statistically we see a different dynamic.  And more importantly, how do we translate to the policymakers that unless we do this, we’re exacerbating a problem in society?  So, it’s unfortunate that our society thinks of this polarized notion of affirmative action as being equated to inferiority.  I don’t know that any of my colleagues that were here today from the Black caucus or the Latino caucus were not the first ones like myself to graduate from high school, go on to college and law school.  I don’t think any one of us had a college educated parent, and many of us, not myself necessarily, had to overcome learning a second language.  All of us went to very poor schools, whether they were private or public.  You know, some of my colleagues are pretty brilliant, pretty good thinkers, in making policy that hopefully will change the face of California.


Let me now say we’ve got three speakers left.  I apologize that you’ve had the misfortune to be at the end of the evening.  I’m not sure whether we asked for ten-minute presentations of each, or five.  Five to ten.  I’m going to ask my committee secretary to start the timer.  I know it was a little bit of a shock to you because she had not been here earlier.  I’m going to go ahead and try to do the five-to-ten rule, and thank you for being patient.


Our next speaker is Erin Quinn.  Welcome.

DR. ERIN QUINN:  Thank you for inviting me, and I will make this very brief because lots of the things that Ron talked about from Stanford are very similar with USC; so we’ll try to move through this pretty quickly.


I just want to say that there is hope in all of this; that it is possible to increase diversity and that you can do it actually pretty quickly.  

I’m going to talk about our experience at Keck, and I’ll just say that we do have lots of pipeline programs.  They’ve been in effect for twenty-five to thirty years.  Obviously, all of that’s paying off.


But what I really want to talk about is how to construct an admissions process that works, because we can talk about all the pipeline programs we want and everything that we can do, but unless you make a change at the admissions process, you’re not going to increase the numbers.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me have you repeat that loud and clear one more time.


DR. QUINN:  It’s my belief that unless you change the admissions process to increase the numbers of minority or underrepresented students at the medical school, it doesn’t matter how many pipeline programs there are and how many post-bac programs, which are wonderful, but you still have to change the admissions process in order to see the beauty of these students and the fact they have the capacity.  We don’t need to lower the bar.  That does not have to happen at all.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, PRIME-LC and the post-bac programs are not going to be the final solution.  They’re a complement . . .


DR. QUINN:  Well, post-bacs are complementary, though, because they do give kids a chance because of the fact there is disparity at the educational level.  That’s where they can catch up.  So, I really support the post-bac programs.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But PRIME-LC, with all due respect to the UC—I don’t want to misstate—which is sort of the signature program that Dr. Drake believes is going to solve all the ills, will not, in my mind.


DR. QUINN:  I can’t comment on that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Of course not.


DR. QUINN:  I was going to say, I’ve been in this position for six years, and this is an area of interest of mine.  I’ve actually worked in this area for twenty years.  Bob Montoya was a mentor to me.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  To many of us.


DR. QUINN:  Yes.  So, I’ve had a lot of history.  

But anyway, I became dean for admissions six years ago, and I have to say, one of the first things you have to do is you have to educate your faculty, but you have to educate your deans because you’ve got to have your dean behind you.  As a dean for admissions, you have power but you don’t have overall say.  So, that’s very important.  You have to educate them to the issue and to the problem and bring them on board.  

We changed the admissions process at USC.  In my first year we doubled our enrollment from 13 underrepresented minority students to 26.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Wow.


DR. QUINN:  That was pretty significant.  

We’re a much larger school.  We actually have 162 students per class; so it’s double the size of Stanford.  And we have multiple missions because we want to train clinicians to work in underserved communities.  We, of course, have physician and academic people that we want to be there for them and train them as well, but we do have a larger contingent, and that has always been a goal at USC:  to train good clinicians who will work in the community.  And we’ve had great support from the foundations, including people that are represented at this table, who have helped us in that mission.  

We currently have over 100 underrepresented students in the Keck School of Medicine at any one time.  So, there’s between 25 to 26 students per year, which isn’t that large, but the students that I lose, I lose to the UCs or to Stanford.  So, they’re in California, and as far as I’m concerned, as long as they’re in California, it’s okay with me.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Absolutely.


DR. QUINN:  To give you an idea, we had 707 underrepresented students apply last year.  So, this is the current class that’s in the medical school as first-year students.  We interviewed 120, which meant that 120 were totally academically capable.  We admitted 57, and we matriculated 24.  So, 57 were really top-notch students, and I mean overall.  I was looking at all of their qualifications, not just MCAT and GPA.  But the ones that we lost between the 57 and 24 number, those were to schools in California.  You have to remember that people apply to multiple schools, so they get multiple acceptances.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, about 50 percent of those that you admitted in fact came to your school.


DR. QUINN:  Right.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  The UC numbers are far lower than that.


DR. QUINN:  One thing I have to do in terms of my admissions work is realize that I’m going to get a smaller yield on minority students because they are coveted by all the schools, so therefore, I have to admit more; so that if I want to get 24 to 30 students, I have to admit almost 60 students.  So, I have to keep that in mind.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, we thank you for admitting almost sixty of them.


DR. QUINN:  You’re welcome.


Screening is very important.  Screening is when you first read the applications and you figure out who this student is, and that’s where you really look to find the people that are the gems.  Sure, they may have a low GPA, but you look for what’s the reason why they have a low GPA.  And we talked about some of those issues:  the parents don’t have an education, et cetera. 

But anyway, the screening is key, and you have to get really good people to screen with you.


Interview.  You have to know your interviewers.  You have to have interviewers that are sensitive once they come for an interview.  There are some interviewers that we’ve thanked them for their years of service and then kindly asked them not to interview anymore because they didn’t understand the issue.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And that’s the kind of leadership that I hope the three deans that were here today will understand is critical to a revised admissions policy going forward.


DR. QUINN:  And you have to get ongoing development work with your faculty to educate them to the issues.  Like we say, we don’t have a representative faculty, so therefore, the ones that are there, they really care and they want to teach, but they don’t really understand the issues, so you have to teach them the issues.  The same with your committee members and this whole idea of predicting success.


You’re looking for other things:  the non-quantitative factors, their potential, where they grew up, what high school they went to.  Believe me, I could tell you exactly how someone’s going to do depending on what high school they went to because they’re not prepared.  They get to Berkeley, they fail organic chemistry that first year, or fail something else; they’re trying to work, and it’s overwhelming.  They have to get off that pathway, and Dr. Matsui talked about that.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  But the key is, they can get off that pathway, and that’s the mindset that needs to change among policymakers that, indeed, they’re not doomed because of those factors.


DR. QUINN:  Absolutely.  So, you look for things like did they work? did they have volunteer work? their trend of improvement.  They’ll be doing really poorly freshman year, but senior year they’re getting all As.  First of all, you have to encourage them, Don’t apply until you’ve already finished senior year; you know, things like that.


And this idea of using the MCAT and GPA as a base, we know that there’s a level at which failure can occur in medical school.  That’s with sevens or below on the MCATs.  Eight and above—if they’ve got eight in every category, they’re going to do okay in medical school.  But what’s our average MCATs?  Thirty-twos now.  Thirty-six is like. . . . you know, when you combine the scores . . . 

SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s a big range of success still.


DR. QUINN:  Absolutely.  So, anything above this range, they’re going to do fine in medical school.  There’s no problem.  But—we’re looking for the higher numbers.  That’s just being honest.  And you also look for leadership and commitment to the community.


I was just going to tell you about a few students that we’ve had so you can kind of see how you look at somebody—and I’ll go through this really quickly. 


Christina was one of our students from the Central Valley.  She went to MIT; undergrad, chemical engineering, had a 2.9 from MIT.  We were the only school that interviewed her.  She then went on to Cal State Fresno and got an MPH there, which she got a 3.8.  She’s from Orosi.  Her parents are farm workers, Spanish is her first language, and had worked in summer in the fields.  Anyway, she came to USC.  Wonderful, wonderful person.  She’s now, currently, a resident in internal medicine.  But you have to read through to see all of these things.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, 2.9 from MIT was considered, some would argue,  not . . . 


DR. QUINN:  But that’s where you don’t know . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  The bar was too low?


DR. QUINN:  Well, if they have cutoffs; if they say you have to have a 3.0 and above to be considered.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I would welcome her in this committee having a discussion about bars.  Can we find her?  Maybe we can run her for office.


DR. QUINN:  And then, another student, Danielle(?), she went to Cal Poly Pomona.  And I really do try to find students who also have gone to the Cal States.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Good.


DR. QUINN:  Three point five GPA; 8, 8, and 9 in her MCATs.  

In fact, I should have said that on Christina, she had a low in the verbal, but when English is your second language, you can expect your verbal to be lower.  And one of the things we always encourage undergrads to do:  Read the newspaper every day.  You can bring up your MCAT scores if you read the newspaper every day.


Her parents had a sixth grade education.  She’s from Baldwin Park.  Baldwin Park High is one of the worst high schools in Southern California.  But she had, after graduating, had gone and worked in Washington, D.C.  So, she had this wonderful work experience and lots of leadership in terms of Latinos in medicine, organizations.  She had worked while she was in college.  Anyway, so now she’s a resident in pediatrics at UCLA, so she graduated.


And all of these people have served on the admissions committee at USC too.  That’s very important, to have students involved in the admissions committee.


This is another student.  His name is José.  He went to Berkeley; undergrad.  His MCATs were 8, 9, and 10, so totally in the success range.  His GPA was a 3.13 when it was averaged overall, but his science GPA was low—a 2.8.  Of course, he had failed O-chem twice, so those numbers are counted in, right? But once he takes it again and gets an A, it’s averaged.  So, by his junior and senior year, he was getting a 3.7.  In reading his thing, his father had died while he was a sophomore at Berkeley.  All of these things are going to affect people’s grades.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  If you take the time to understand and ask those questions.


DR. QUINN:  And his family situation.  But he was interesting.  He had been a MedCore student, which is our middle school/high school program.  I, of course, saw it on his application.  He grew up near USC, main campus.  He said one of the most significant things that happened to him was going to Troy Camp when he was in fifth grade.  That made him realize he could go to college.  So, it makes you see that these types of programs really do make a difference.  He had all the leadership and communication skills you could ever want.  He was interviewed and accepted both at UCLA and USC—he was not accepted at the other UCs—but for love chose UCLA because his girlfriend, who had gone to Berkeley with him, was going to UCLA.  So, we lost him.  We offered him a full scholarship, but love is very strong.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Money does not overcome love at that age, I guess.


DR. QUINN:  There you go.


One thing that I wanted you to consider, because this is important, I think, and it’s true for us, is that we are under a lot of pressure to keep up our scores.  We’re ranked nationally based on. . . . part of the ranking, right? is on your GPA and MCAT scores.  There’s always pressure on me to keep the scores up and keep putting the scores up higher so your average GPA and your average MCAT are higher.  Luckily, I’m a very good magician with numbers, so I can take one person with a lower number, another higher numbers.  I do play with the numbers, but my point is, is it’s true and it’s there and that we have to. . . . you know, it’s true for all California schools.  We have to keep up with certain numbers.


And as was mentioned earlier, the number of slots in California, I think it’s too small.  We don’t have enough slots in California.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Right.  That’s what Senator Ducheny’s comment was:  we need to expand the capacity and only if we can assure that there will be a focus on delivering providers of care in underserved areas.


DR. QUINN:  Absolutely.  We are increasing our slots by twelve this year, and half are to go to underrepresented minority students and half are to go for physician scholars.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m sure the UCs are taking notes and they’re going to incorporate all of these policy recommendations.


DR. QUINN:  We’ll be going up to 180.  I think that, as we really look at changing . . . 


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m being scolded over here because we have thirteen minutes on the clock, but go ahead.


DR. QUINN:  One final thing is that it’s important, as we choose students and as we really look at addressing the issues and problems in healthcare in California, that these are the students we need to come in and change how healthcare is going to be in California.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  You’re preaching to the one member of the choir at the moment.


DR. QUINN:  It’s the only way we can do it.


Thank you very much.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much for what you’re doing.  It really does mean a lot.  You’re doing more than we as policymakers can do to achieve good outcomes.  So, thank you.


We have two more speakers.  Welcome.  She’s putting you on the clock, but I’m sure we’ll allow you time.


Welcome.


DR. BEVERLY GUIDRY:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz, for, first of all, inviting Western University of Health Sciences, College of Osteopathic Medicine.  We are the minority profession.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Even within the profession.


DR. GUIDRY:  Within the profession.


I don’t know that I’m necessarily here today on Panel 3 to offer advice, but rather, to share some experiences that I’ve had at Western over the last twenty-three years.


I was hired twenty-three years ago as a minority recruiter.  My job was to increase the enrollment of underrepresented students at COMP.  Over the twenty-three years, I’ve come to know within my soul that the leadership of the dean drives the direction of the admissions process.  So, as I listened to the new dean at UC Davis today—Dr. Pomeroy—I was excited inside to hear her lay out a plan that would give direction to faculty, to the admissions committee, to administration, because the direction has to come from the dean.  And the reason I know this for sure is because we’ve had five deans in the last six years.  


I’m going to take just ten minutes for those of you that may or may not be familiar with osteopathic medicine.  I feel remiss if I’m in a room and I make the assumption that everybody knows what osteopathic medicine is.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can you take five minutes on that? 


DR. GUIDRY:  Thirty seconds.  Just to say that there are two kinds of physicians that are qualified to practice medicine in the United States:  a D.O. and an M.D.  They both can perform surgery, deliver babies, go into any specialized field of medicine, but osteopathic physicians have an additional modality that they use for treatment and diagnosis, and that is the osteopathic manipulative medicine.  And that’s all I’ll say about that, but there are two types of physicians.

Our entering class size is 205.  We recently added in the last two years thirty additional students as a part of a northwest track.  So, we attract students outside of California from the Pacific Northwest.


In 1966, under the leadership of one of our deans, in the March-June issue of the New Physician Magazine, COMP was ranked number one among all California medical schools in the percentage increase of first-year underrepresented minority students.  We were ecstatic about that.  The percentage rose from 6.8 percent in 1990 and ’91 to 20.2 percent in 1995/96—an increase of 13.4 percent.  When compared to the sixteen colleges of osteopathic medicine then in the country—and we currently have twenty-two—we were ranked number two.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  Wow.  Impressive.


DR. GUIDRY:  The admissions of underrepresented students continued to rise from 1996, and in 1998, COMP admitted its largest class of underrepresented students.  We had 16 African American students, 15 Latino students, one Native American student, and the total enrollment at that point was 169.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s impressive.


DR. GUIDRY:  In 2002, a significant decline in admissions of underrepresented students occurred.  And that’s why I said I don’t know that I’m here to give advice, but rather, to share our experiences.


Under a new dean, with a new philosophy—or a different philosophy—the medical school admitted zero African American students, seven Latino students, and zero Native American students.  Nationwide, the number of applicants in the Asian Pacific Islander group have the fastest rise of any ethnic group.  Only negligible gains in enrollment were achieved by underrepresented students nationwide.  African Americans, Latinos, and Native Americans remained at 8.6 percent.  Now, in 2002, COMP admissions of underrepresented students had declined from the 20 percent to 4 percent.


Two years later, in 2004, now we have a new dean, a new interim dean, and several classes that had already been admitted would be described as lacking diversity.  However, we realized it was time to go back to some of our old practices.  We knew that we could do it because we had done it before.


You know, I’m sitting between two ladies that I haven’t had the opportunity to meet personally, but I know that Erin has been to our school to consult with one of our new colleges and a dean who has a vision for building a diverse class, and so, she wanted to know what Keck School was doing, and The California Wellness Foundation, which funds one of our pipeline programs.  

So, in terms of the programs and the strategies, I think we’re doing the right things, but the leadership of the dean, the license to the faculty, and the admissions committee, I think is what makes the difference.  The years when there was a dean and the dean felt that it was not on the radar or a priority to admit underrepresented students, then it was okay for the faculty not to admit them.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Right.  So, there are expectations of the new dean, I hope.  We’ll see, and hopefully get some good numbers this next class.


DR. GUIDRY:  So, 2005 we’re in now and we have a new dean, effective January 3, 2005—a retired rear admiral.  On his radar is a priority to increase the enrollment of underrepresented students at Western, and we’re excited about that.


I’m going to not go through all of the programs that we have and some of the strategies, but I would like to say that the post-baccalaureate programs served as a vehicle for us to admit many underrepresented students over the years.  I served as a recruiter and then an associate director of admissions, director of admissions, assistant dean, dean of student affairs, and finally V.P.  During that time, our relationship with post-baccalaureate programs, particularly UCI, we would, through our admissions committee, interview those students that met our requirements, using the same variables that USC is using.  We have admitted many of those students, and those students are successful practicing physicians.  Some in the State of California, some out of California.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m going to ask you to wrap up because we’re at eight/nine minutes now, and I have one more speaker.


DR. GUIDRY:  I’ll just wrap up by saying that we are excited about our permanent dean.  I’m going to call him a permanent dean.  And that we hope to continue to work with the UC schools, particularly getting students from their post-baccalaureate programs.  I think that my colleagues on the panel really have summed up what needs to happen in an admissions process in terms of selection and training and educating an admissions committee.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  And I really appreciate the reiteration of the post-bac being really key.  I’ve heard that a number of times.  I know Dr. Drake and the UC likes the PRIME-LC program, but I think when you look at tactics and remedies and ways of increasing numbers, obviously the post-bac seems to be a very consistent model that is applauded.  But not the only solution.


So, with that, thank you so much.  I appreciate it.  I know you’ve been here all afternoon.


We have one last speaker, and I’m going to ask him to be brief.  But before we have that one last speaker, I’m just going to put a plug in.  

I happen to have some pretty brilliant staff, and I’m not going to name names right now, but one of them who’s now gone on graduated from law school and is now practicing as a public defender, but who came to me as one of eleven children from Santa Ana, who did her undergrad at Berkeley.  Her parents had not been college educated.  A real star who, statistically on the data, might not have been one of the persons admitted.


A younger woman who works with me now who did her undergrad at Berkeley will be going to Georgetown.  An African American young woman who comes from one of these communities in Senator Vincent’s district.  Mother not wealthy, mother not educated.  Brilliant young woman.  


Another one who did her undergrad at Stanford is a little bit of an overachiever, and she’s brilliant, who happens to be sitting on my right—from East L.A.?  Pico Union.  Downtown L.A.  Mom wasn’t college educated either.


I used to have this Stanford/Berkeley battle going on, on my staff.


I think we had another Stanford grad—Anna—another brilliant one, who’s gone on and now works with the Administration; went to the budget committee.

Sylvia, a little underachiever from one of our lowest performing schools, born in Guatemala, who went on to Harvard.  

So, you know, the women on my staff are brilliant, and they’ve all been the statistical dilemmas.  None of them went to med school, unfortunately, but we know we live what we see.  And gosh, I’ll take you guys any day compared to some of the others who are the glitter on their résumé.  We’re fortunate to have this next generation, much brighter, much smarter than we were.  So, let me just put a push for the Stanfords and Berkeleys that are doing great jobs.


Let me welcome our final speaker, Dr. Anmol Mahal, who is the chair of the board of trustees of CMA, and have you shed some insight to a very tired committee chair today.  Thank you so much because you’ve been so patient.

DR. ANMOL MAHAL:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz, for the invitation to come and present the CMA’s point of view.  Knowing that I’m the last one standing between you and dinner, I will try and be as swift as I can through my ten minutes of prepared remarks.  Hopefully I’ll be done in eight.

Let me start by saying that the health of America today is better than it has ever been in the past.  As Americans and as Californians, we are living longer, we are living better lives, and we are living healthier lives.  Some of the advances are because of the healthcare delivery system, and some of those are as a result of better lifestyles, et cetera.  But let me also say that the healthcare gains are not equally shared in America by the poor, by the less educated, certainly by the uninsured, and by the people of color in our country, and that, we feel, as physicians, is not acceptable as a trend in our country.


There are no areas in California that have an oversupply of physicians.  There are large areas in California that are underserved by physicians.  This leads us to believe that we have a net shortage of physicians.  And with our growing population in this state and the way the healthcare delivery system’s needs are going to be, we are going to have an ever-increasing net shortage of physicians in California.


We have done very well in the past by importing physicians from other states and fortunately, also, from other countries that permitted people like myself—particularly me and my wife—to come and enjoy the American Dream here.


It is getting harder and harder to import physicians from other states to California.  The increasing cost of housing and the lower physician reimbursements compared to other states are making it quite difficult to recruit physicians into California practices.


A couple of pieces of statistics.  A 2001 study on the number of medical school seats compared to population, nationwide we have 27.1 medical school seats, 200,000 population.  In California, we have almost half:  15.6 medical school seats for every 100,000 Californians.  Even Texas is better than us.  They have 24.5 seats per 100,000 population, almost close to the national average.  So, in California we are training half as many physicians per 100,000 population, which would hopefully be the way we define our needs for physicians, compared to the rest of the country.  We do a little better in residency slots, but there are similar striking imbalances in residency slots, but they’re not as striking as medical school seats.


The California Medical Association in 2002, we looked at Medical Board of California data and we realized that only a quarter of those physicians who practice in California actually graduated from a California medical school.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Only half.


DR. MAHAL:  A quarter.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  A quarter!


DR. MAHAL:  Another close to another quarter are folks like myself who went to medical school abroad and came under various programs to get licensed.  Fully 50 percent went to medical school elsewhere.  Now, some of the California graduates probably go to other states, and there is some exchange going on.  But these figures are striking, just to show you how few the number of physicians we train compared to our needs.  

So, we need a major investment in training healthcare providers for the future.  I think we can rearrange the deck here and do a few things, but we really need in this state a major investment.  We think that this is something we need to deal with in the very short run, and this is not something we can postpone into the future.


So, that is my two minutes on physician supply.  The next is the issue of physician distribution.  Just having more physicians will not cure the problem of the underserved areas.  We don’t believe, at the California Medical Association, that just pouring more physicians in will lead to equal diffusion of physician supply.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We agree.


DR. MAHAL:  We don’t think that will happen, so we need special programs to assist, encourage, and cajole physicians to go into underserved areas, and you’ve heard several ideas, as I have listened to part of the testimony through the day.


At the California Medical Association, we believe that physicians should be culturally and linguistically competent to treat their patients, and we believe so because studies show that health outcomes improve when patients have a culturally and linguistically competent physician.


We also fully support and will be happy to work with you on any and all programs that increase diversity in the healthcare workforce, which we think is very, very important.  Just as an example, we sponsored AB 801, carried by Assemblyman Manny Diaz, which became law.  That is a cultural and linguistic competency bill.  And CMA is very, very willing to work on multiple areas in that field.

You remember AB 1045, the Mexican physician import bill, Assemblyman Firebaugh’s bill.  I was charged by the CMA to testify and speak against that, and the only reason we spoke against that—the predominant reason we spoke against that—is because it created a dual standard for licensing physicians.  It would have created a dual and somewhat lower standard for physicians who would come from Mexico compared to the standards that I had to, having trained abroad, meet.  So, we opposed that.


Now, while we were opposing that bill—and I have to invoke Steve Thompson’s name here.  It was Steve, myself, and a couple of us sitting and saying, What can we do to be constructive while we are opposing what we think is not good? and we came up with the California Physician Corps concept.  That was a bill that in the Senate was carried by my senator, Senator Figueroa, and by Assemblyman Firebaugh.  It became law and was signed into law by our former governor.


The California Physician Corps program is a loan repayment program.  It was recently in your Legislature named after Steve Thompson because of his initial involvement and his lobbying, and we were very pleased that you did that.

We funded the program with $3 million from the California Medical Board.  It’s basically a physician’s licensing fee.  And more recently we received a million dollars from the California Endowment.  We have used the program to give over three years in three graduated payments a total of $105,000 to physicians who have finished their residencies in California, who are licensed to practice and voluntarily choose to get this loan repayment.  As you know, the medical school loans can be near $200,000 when you finish.  So, they go and work in HPSA underserved areas.  And I’m happy to report that one of those fifty-two serving under the CPC program is actually serving in your district, in a clinic in Sacramento.

SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’ll get the name and the clinic later from you.


DR. MAHAL:  I have it for you and I will hand it down to you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


DR. MAHAL:  So, we would appreciate the Legislature’s support in getting permanent funding for the California Physician Corps program—the Steve Thompson Loan Repayment Program, as we’ve renamed it—because this is one way to get physicians into underserved areas, licensed, fully trained, and it’s all a voluntary program.  It is certainly our hope that some of these physicians will fall in love with the communities they are working in and settle down to practice permanently in those communities.   That, we feel, in the short run, is one way to bring trained physicians into underserved areas.


At the California Medical Association we are also very active with the ethnic physicians.  We have the Ethnic Physician Medical Organization section.  At that section we do frequent programs to train ethnic physicians in leadership skills so that they can go back to their communities—and most of them practice in underserved ethnic communities—so that they can go back to their communities and help in multiple areas that we need help with.  And you spoke at and served as a panelist at one of our Ethnic Physician Leadership conferences.


We have also created a network of ethnic physician organizations with 80 physician leaders—all ethnic physician leaders.  We have the Filipino Physicians Society from the north and south, the ________ leaders from multiple parts of the state, the Indian physician groups, et cetera.  And we do a large amount of outreach through that organization as well, which is largely sponsored by our foundation.

We feel that the solution to the workforce diversity issue, the solution to the cultural and linguistic competency issue, has to be a multi-pronged approach.  It can’t be one single thing.  Admission process enhancement, the post-baccalaureate programs, mentoring at various levels, grants to various programs to enhance learning at an early age, are multi-pronged approaches.  And I’m sure you have the Sullivan Commission report that outlines the several prongs that one needs to look at to increasing workforce diversity.


And I think with that I will conclude, and once again, thank you very much for the invitation.  We are very, very delighted to work with you on any other and all areas to increase workforce diversity.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Wonderful.  Thank you, Dr. Mahal, for that.  I understand we have the executive summary of the Sullivan Report in the packet for our members.  We’ll make sure all of their offices receive that, and we’ll hopefully get requests to look at it further.


Let me thank all of you.  We’re actually an hour and forty-five minutes behind schedule, but I think there was someone earlier, a Dr. Stein, who wanted to come up under Public Comment.  I don’t know if Dr. Stein is still here or whether they want to come forward.  I apologize for the delay.


Let me just close with a few comments, but let me thank all of you for being here.  It’s been a very informative hearing for myself and hopefully others as we discuss and tackle this issue.  Let me make three major points.


One is, there is some who will misconstrue what we have done today as sort of saying, Let’s go back to affirmative action for the sake of affirmative action.  I think the point that needs to be made is we know by objective data/criteria over time consistently shows that those who come from underserved areas go back to underserved areas.  The objective is to assure that our public institutions that are paid for by the Californians who are either denied medical care or have inadequate or inferior medical care or live in areas that we are underserved, who are paying the taxes for these systems and generally not being admitted into these institutions, that there seems to be, I think, a compromise or a break in the social obligation of our University of California system to in fact train and educate physicians who serve in California’s areas.  That’s my personal sense of concern about what we’ve seen and not seen.


Let me also say that I think we have seen really great programs, and we’ve seen programs that are improving but not there yet.  We’ve seen all of the roadmaps on how to do this well.


But let me close with something that is going to be the next phase of this committee’s hearing, and hopefully we’ll get some numbers to understand that.  Before 209—again, my predecessor in the Assembly, then-Assemblymember Isenberg . . . [portion of dialogue missing] . . . he was disappointed—I suspect Steve Thompson had a part in that, given their relationship—that the UC was not training physicians who were going back to areas in which we saw underserved communities.  That piece of legislation was introduced and vetoed, but that legislation would have required a reduction in the University of California’s budget if they failed to meet certain goals which were, essentially, goals to graduate physicians that would go into primary care.  Punitive.  Who knows whether it would have ever been implemented, given the UC’s model.  But it went to the core of the only tool we have against the UC system, which is their budget.  

That bill was vetoed by Governor Wilson.  His veto message says, I’m vetoing this bill simply because we’ve now entered into a social contract between the University of California and the State of California (OSHPD) to “increase the number of primary care physicians trained in UC colleges to 56 percent by 1998 and 70 percent in 2001.”  In that veto message there was an MOU—that I don’t know has seen much of the public review—that, in fact, ought to have been implemented from 1994 and operative between 1994 and 2002 to actually meet those goals.  Where I’m told there were reports to the Legislature, we’ve got a little summary of that.  We got a letter from the UC saying UC GME programs and a summary of unintended adverse impacts of the memorandum of understanding between UC and OSHPD essentially says that this agreement ended in 2002.  It doesn’t say whether or not they met their goals.  But it said, oh, you know, we could have an unintended consequence of people not coming to our. . . . well, it’s two paragraphs of what, I don’t understand.  And then, ultimately, a report that was issued in July of 2002, which was apparently the seventh of reports on whether or not they met those goals.

So, as I mentioned to others, I think we need a hearing to determine whether, in fact, that commitment, that premise of the veto by Governor Wilson, at that time was met and, in fact, even subsequent to 209, whether we still have an obligation of the UCs to train physicians that are going to go into the underserved areas.


This is really, probably, the one piece that I think deserves more discussion, even though there’s a willingness of the three deans from the three medical schools that don’t have great numbers but are improving.  If, indeed, they’re as committed as they have presented in this committee—and I’m optimistic that they are—then I hope that they will come back, along with others from the office of the president, including Dr. Drake, to tell us where we are on meeting those goals.  I don’t think we met 78 percent of the UC medical school graduates achieving 70 percent by 2001—having turned out 70 percent primary care physicians.  I suspect it’s well under that.


So, let’s revisit that as a budget opportunity, or a budget challenge, however you want to look at it.  The roadmap is here by those who are doing well, and let’s see whether we can get others engaged in that.


So, thank you all for your time, your commitment.  Let’s hope that we can tackle this issue and raise the bar as in our expectation of what the UC obligation is to society and to this state.


Thank you all.  This committee meeting is adjourned.

# # #
PAGE  
111

